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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
Form 10-K/A

p ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009
or
0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-33887
Orion Energy Systems, Inc.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

Wisconsin 39-1847269
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
2210 Woodland Drive, Manitowoc, WI 54220
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(920) 892-9340
(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common stock, no par value The NASDAQ Global Market
Common stock purchase rights The NASDAQ Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yeso Nop

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Act. Yeso Nop

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yesp Noo
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if
any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T

(§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit and post such files). (Registrant is not yet required to provide financial disclosure in an Interactive Data File
format.). Yeso Noo

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this
chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this

Form 10-K. p

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer and smaller reporting
company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer p Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yeso Nop

The aggregate market value of shares of the Registrant s common stock held by non-affiliates as of September 30,
2008, the last business day of the Registrant s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, was approximately

$148,010,431.

At July 22, 2009, there were 21,671,176 shares of the Registrant s common stock outstanding.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

Orion Energy Systems, Inc. hereby amends its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2009 to

include the information required by Part III. This Form 10-K/A does not attempt to modify or update any other

disclosures set forth in the original Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 15, 2009, except (i) as required to

reflect the additional information included in Part III of this Form 10-K/A; (ii) as required by Rule 12b-15 under the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, to reflect in Item 15 of Part IV currently dated certifications from the

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Orion Energy Systems, Inc., which are attached hereto as

Exhibits 31.1, 31.2 and 32.1; and (iii) to update the Exhibit Index to reflect three additional exhibits. As used herein,

unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, all references to Orion, we, wus, our, the Comp
and similar references are to Orion Energy Systems, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K/A includes forward-looking statements that are based on our beliefs and assumptions and on

information currently available to us. When used in this Form 10-K/A, the words anticipate, believe, could, estimate
expect, intend, may, plan, potential, predict, project, should, will, would and similar expressions

forward-looking statements. Although we believe that our plans, intentions, and expectations reflected in any

forward-looking statements are reasonable, these plans, intentions or expectations are based on assumptions, are

subject to risks and uncertainties and may not be achieved. These statements are based on assumptions made by us

based on our experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and

other factors that we believe are appropriate in the circumstances. Such statements are subject to a number of risks and

uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our actual results, performance or achievements could differ

materially from those contemplated, expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this

Form 10-K/A. Important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements.

Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Also,

forward-looking statements represent our beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Form 10-K/A. All

forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety

by the cautionary statements set forth in this Form 10-K/A. Actual events, results and outcomes may differ materially

from our expectations due to a variety of factors. Although it is not possible to identify all of these factors, they

include, among others, the following:

further deterioration of market conditions;

dependence on customers capital budgets for sales of products and services;

our ability to compete in a highly competitive market and our ability to respond successfully to market
competition;

increasing duration of customer sales cycles;
the market acceptance of our products and services, including the Orion Virtual Power Plant;

price fluctuations, shortages or interruptions of component supplies and raw materials used to manufacture our
products;

loss of one or more key customers or suppliers, including key contacts at such customers;
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a reduction in the price of electricity;
the cost to comply with, and the effects of, any current and future government regulations, laws and policies;

increased competition from government subsidies of alternative energy products and utility incentive
programs;

our ability to effectively manage our anticipated growth; and

potential warranty claims.
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You are urged to carefully consider these factors and the other factors described under Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors of
our Form 10-K filed on June 15, 2009 when evaluating any forward-looking statements, and you should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

Except as required by applicable law, we assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements publicly or
to update the reasons why actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in any forward-looking
statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Directors
Information with respect to our current directors is set forth below.
Class I Directors Terms Expiring 2011

Thomas A. Quadracci, 61, has served as chairman of our board since 2006. Mr. Quadracci was executive chairman of
Quad/Graphics, Inc., one of the United States largest commercial printing companies that he co-founded in 1971, until
January 1, 2007, where he also served at various times as executive vice president, president and chief executive
officer, and chairman and chief executive officer. Mr. Quadracci also founded and served as President of Quad/Tech,
Inc., a manufacturer and marketer of industrial controls, until 2002.

Michael J. Potts, 45, has been our executive vice president since 2003 and has served as a director since 2001.

Mr. Potts joined our company as our vice president technical services in 2001. From 1988 through 2001, Mr. Potts
was employed by Kohler Co., one of the world s largest manufacturers of plumbing products. From 1990 through 1999
he held the position of supervising engineer energy in Kohler s energy and utilities department. In 2000, Mr. Potts
assumed the position of supervisor energy management group of Kohler s entire corporate energy portfolio, as well as
the position of general manager of its natural gas subsidiary. Mr. Potts is licensed as a professional engineer in
Wisconsin.

Class II Directors Terms Expiring 2009

Russell M. Flaum, 59, has served as a director since his election to the board of directors on September 10, 2008.

Mr. Flaum retired in July 2009 from his position as executive vice president of Illinois Tool Works Inc., a
manufacturer of engineered components and industrial systems, in which he had served since 1992. Between 1986 and
1992, Mr. Flaum held various sales, marketing and executive positions with Illinois Tool Works Inc. following its
acquisition of Signode Corporation, where he had worked since 1975. Mr. Flaum also currently serves as a director
and member of the executive committee of the National Association of Manufacturers, and as a member of the
advisory board of Z Capital Partners, L.L.C. Mr. Flaum was a director of Ryerson Tull Inc. from 2004 to 2007, and a
director of Quanex Corporation from 1997 to 2007.

Roland G. Stephenson, 63, was appointed to our board of directors on September 10, 2008. Mr. Stephenson is the
chief executive officer and a significant shareholder of Faith Technologies, Inc., a full-service electrical and specialty
systems contractor firm headquartered in Menasha, Wisconsin, with locations in five other states and a national scope
of operations. Prior to being appointed chief executive officer in January 2009, Mr. Stephenson had served as the
president of Faith Technologies, Inc. since 2002.
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Mark C. Williamson, 55, was appointed to our board of directors on April 29, 2009. Mr. Williamson has been a
partner of Putnam Roby Williamson Communications of Madison, Wis., a strategic communications firm specializing
in energy utility matters, since 2008. He has more than 20 years of executive-level utility experience. Prior to joining
Putnam Roby Williamson Communications, Mr. Williamson was vice president of major projects for American
Transmission Company from 2002 to 2008, served as executive vice president and chief strategic officer with

Madison Gas and Electric Company from 1986 to 2002 and, prior to 1986, was a trial attorney with the Madison firm
Geisler and Kay S.C.
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Class III Directors Terms Expiring 2010

Neal R. Verfuerth, 50, has been a director since 1998 and our chief executive officer since 2005. From 1998 until

July 22, 2009, Mr. Verfuerth also served as our president. He co-founded our company in 1996 and served until 1998
as our vice president. From 1993 to 1996, he was employed as director of sales/marketing and product development of
Lights of America, Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of compact fluorescent lighting technology. Prior to that time,
Mr. Verfuerth served as president of Energy 2000/Virtus Corp., a solar heating and energy efficient lighting business.
Mr. Verfuerth has invented many of our products, principally our Compact Modular energy efficient lighting system,
and other related energy control technologies used by our company. He is married to our vice president of operations,
Patricia A. Verfuerth.

James R. Kackley, 67, became our president and chief operating officer on July 22, 2009, and has served as a director
since 2005. Mr. Kackley practiced as a public accountant for Arthur Andersen, LLP from 1963 to 1999. From 1974 to
1999, he was an audit partner for the firm. In addition, in 1998 and 1999, he served as chief financial officer for
Andersen Worldwide. From June 1999 to May 2002, Mr. Kackley served as an adjunct professor at the Kellstadt
School of Management at DePaul University. Mr. Kackley serves as a director, a member of the executive committee
and the audit committee chairman of Herman Miller, Inc., and as a director and member of the management resources
and compensation committee and audit committee of PepsiAmericas, Inc. He also served as a director and a member
of the nominating and governance committee and the audit committee of Ryerson, Inc. prior to its sale.

Executive Officers
Information with respect to our executive officers is set forth below.

The following table sets forth information as of July 22, 2009 regarding our current executive officers:

Name Age Position

Neal R. Verfuerth 50  Chief Executive Officer and Director

James R. Kackley 67  President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
Erik G. Birkerts 42  Executive Vice President

Scott R. Jensen 42 Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Daniel J. Waibel 42  President, Orion Asset Management Division
Michael J. Potts 45  Executive Vice President and Director

Eric von Estorff 44  Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Patricia A. Verfuerth 50  Vice President of Operations

John H. Scribante 44 Senior Vice President of Business Development

The following biographies describe the business experience of our executive officers. (For biographies of
Messrs. Verfuerth, Kackley and Potts, see Directors above.)

Erik G. Birkerts became our executive vice president on July 22, 2009, after serving as our chief operating officer
since July 15, 2008. Prior to that time, he served as our vice president of strategic initiatives since March 2007.

Mr. Birkerts founded and served as president of The Prairie Partners Group LLC, a business strategy consulting firm
that worked with Fortune 500 and middle-market companies to create sales strategies, from 2000 through February
2007. Mr. Birkerts was the general manager of strategic development for Network Commerce, a technology company,
from 1999 to 2000. From 1997 to 1999, he was a management consultant with Frank Lynn & Associates, a marketing
consulting firm. Mr. Birkerts also worked as a bank examiner with the Federal Reserve Bank of New York from 1989
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Scott R. Jensen has been our chief financial officer and treasurer since July 15, 2008. Prior to being appointed our
chief financial officer and treasurer, Mr. Jensen served as our controller and vice president of corporate finance since
2007, and as our director of finance from 2004 to 2007. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Jensen was the manager of financial
planning and analysis at the Mirro Co. (a division of Newell Rubbermaid). Mr. Jensen is a certified public accountant.

4
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Daniel J. Waibel has been president of the Orion Asset Management Division since July 15, 2008. Prior to being
appointed president of the Orion Asset Management Division, Mr. Waibel served as our chief financial officer and
treasurer since 2001. Mr. Waibel has over 19 years of financial management experience, and is a certified public
accountant and a certified management accountant. From 1998 to 2001, he was employed by Radius Capital Partners,
LLC, a venture capital and business formation firm, as a principal and chief financial officer. From 1994 through
1998, Mr. Waibel was chief financial officer of Ryko Corporation, an independent recording music label. From 1992
to 1994, Mr. Waibel was controller and general manager of Chippewa Springs, Ltd., a premium beverage company.
From 1990 to 1992, Mr. Waibel was director of internal audit for Musicland Stores Corporation, a music retailer.

Mr. Waibel was employed by Arthur Andersen, LLP from 1982 to 1990 as an audit manager.

Eric von Estorff has been our vice president, general counsel and secretary since 2003. From 1997 to 2003, Mr. von
Estorff was employed as corporate counsel and corporate secretary of Quad/Graphics, Inc. one of the United States
largest commercial printing companies, where he concentrated in the areas of acquisitions and strategic combinations,
complex contracts and business transactions, finance and lending agreements, real estate and litigation management.
Prior to his employment at Quad/Graphics, Inc., Mr. von Estorff was associated with a Milwaukee, Wisconsin-based
law firm from 1994 to 1997.

Patricia A. Verfuerth has been our vice president of operations since 1997 and served as corporate secretary of our
company from 1998 through mid-2003. Ms. Verfuerth is currently on leave. She was employed by Lights of America,
Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of compact fluorescent lighting technology, from 1991 to 1997. At Lights of
America, Inc., Ms. Verfuerth was responsible for recruiting and training of staff and as liaison to investor-owned
utilities for their residential demand side management initiatives. From 1989 to 1992, she was operations manager for
Energy 2000/Virtus Corp, a solar heating and energy efficient lighting business. She is married to our president and
chief executive officer, Neal R. Verfuerth.

John H. Scribante has been our senior vice president of business development since 2007. Mr. Scribante served as our
vice president of sales from 2004 until 2007. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Scribante co-founded and served as
chief executive officer of Xe Energy, LLC, a distribution company that specialized in marketing energy reduction
technologies, from 2003 to 2004. From 1996 to 2003, he co-founded and served as president of Innovize, LLC, a
company that provided outsourcing services to mid-market manufacturing companies.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors, and persons who beneficially own more
than ten percent of our common stock, to file initial statements of beneficial ownership (Form 3), and statements of
changes in beneficial ownership (Forms 4 or 5) of our common stock with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
which we refer to as the SEC. The SEC requires executive officers, directors and greater than ten percent shareholders
to furnish us with copies of all these forms filed with the SEC.

To our knowledge, based solely upon our review of the copies of these forms received by us, or written
representations from certain reporting persons that no additional forms were required for those persons, we believe
that all of our executive officers and directors complied with their reporting obligations during fiscal 2009.

Code of Conduct

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our directors, employees and officers, including our
principal executive officer, our principal financial officer, our controller and persons performing similar functions.
Our Code of Conduct is available on our web site at www.oriones.com. Future material amendments or waivers
relating to the Code of Conduct will be disclosed on our web site referenced in this paragraph within four business
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Shareholder Nominations

No material changes have been made to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to our
board of directors.
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Audit and Finance Committee

Our board of directors has established an audit and finance committee. Our board of directors adopted a charter for our
audit and finance committee on June 27, 2007, and the charter is available on our web site at www.oriones.com. Our
audit and finance committee reviews its charter at least annually, and did so at its June 10, 2009 meeting. Our audit
and finance committee is currently comprised of Messrs. Flaum, Quadracci and Stephenson. Mr. Kackley served as a
member and chairman of our audit and finance committee until he became our president and chief operating officer on
July 22, 2009. Upon Mr. Kackley s resignation as chairman and a member of our audit and finance committee on
July 22, 2009, Mr. Flaum replaced him in those positions. Mr. Flaum is an audit committee financial expert, as
defined under rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (which we refer to as the SEC ) implementing
Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (which we refer to as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act ). The principal
responsibilities and functions of our audit and finance committee are to (i) oversee the reliability of our financial
reporting, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and the independence of our internal and
external auditors and audit functions and (ii) oversee the capital structure of our company and assist our board of
directors in assuring that appropriate capital is available for operations and strategic initiatives. In carrying out its
accounting and financial reporting oversight responsibilities and functions, our audit and finance committee, among
other things, oversees and interacts with our independent auditors regarding the auditors engagement and/or dismissal,
duties, compensation, qualifications and performance; reviews and discusses with our independent auditors the scope
of audits and our accounting principles, policies and practices; reviews and discusses our audited annual financial
statements with our independent auditors and management; and reviews and approves or ratifies (if appropriate)
related party transactions. Our audit and finance committee also is directly responsible for the appointment,
compensation, retention and oversight of our independent auditors. Our audit and finance committee met 9 times in
fiscal 2009. Our audit and finance committee meets the requirements for independence under the current Nasdaq rules
and the rules of the SEC, as Messrs. Flaum, Quadracci and Stephenson are independent directors for such purposes.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis
This compensation discussion and analysis describes the material elements of compensation awarded to, earned by, or
paid to each of our named executive officers, whom we refer to as our NEOs, during fiscal 2009 and describes our
policies and decisions made with respect to the information contained in the following tables, related footnotes and
narrative for fiscal 2009. We also describe various actions regarding NEO compensation taken before or after fiscal
2009 when we believe it enhances the understanding of our executive compensation program.
Overview of Our Executive Compensation Philosophy and Design
We believe that a skilled, experienced and dedicated senior management team is essential to the future performance of
our company and to building shareholder value. We have sought to establish competitive compensation programs that
enable us to attract and retain executive officers with these qualities. The other objectives of our compensation

programs for our executive officers are the following:

to motivate our executive officers to achieve strong financial performance, particularly increased revenue,
profitability and shareholder value;

to attract and retain executive officers who we believe have the experience, temperament, talents and
convictions to contribute significantly to our future success; and
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to align the interests of our executive officers with the interests of our shareholders.

In light of these objectives, we have sought to reward our NEOs for achieving financial performance goals, creating
value for our shareholders, and for loyalty and dedication to our company. We also seek to reward initiative,

6
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innovation and creation of new products, technologies, business methods and applications, since we believe our future
success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to expand our revenue, product and market opportunities.

In anticipation of our becoming a public company, immediately prior to our December 2007 initial public offering,
which we refer to as our PO , our compensation committee at that time generally established overall total direct
compensation (consisting of base salary, annual cash bonus and long-term equity incentive compensation) for our then
current executives for the remainder of our fiscal 2008 after the effective date of our IPO, as well as for fiscal 2009, at
levels that then equaled or exceeded the median level for similarly situated executives at comparable public
companies. In making these decisions prior to our IPO, our compensation committee also then believed that we should
target total direct compensation (and/or individual components thereof) for the remainder of our fiscal 2008, as well as
for fiscal 2009, of certain of our then serving individual executives whom the committee then believed to be key
contributors to our current and future performance at relative levels that equaled or exceeded the 75th percentile level
for similarly situated executives at comparable public companies. Our compensation committee took these actions at
that time in order to attract, retain and motivate highly-qualified, entrepreneurial and growth-oriented executives who
were then expected to help drive our creation of shareholder value. As a result of the foregoing process conducted by
our compensation committee as it was constructed prior to our IPO, the compensation levels for our then serving
NEOs named herein for the remainder of fiscal 2008 after our IPO, as well as for fiscal 2009, were pre-established by
our committee prior to the effective date of our IPO. The one exception to this process was our compensation
committee s establishment of Mr. Jensen s total compensation package upon his promotion on July 15, 2008 to become
our new chief financial officer and treasurer in replacement of Mr. Waibel, who then became the president of our asset
management division.

After the end of fiscal 2009, with the benefit of the input and perspectives of two new members of our compensation
committee who are different than two members who served on our compensation committee prior to our IPO and as a
result of the recessionary economic and industry market conditions and their adverse impact on our fiscal 2009
financial results and fiscal 2010 prospects, our compensation committee, with the concurrence and support of our
chief executive officer, determined to take the following actions with respect to the compensation of our NEOs and
other executive officers:

Pay no annual bonuses for fiscal 2009;
Freeze base salaries for fiscal 2010 at their respective fiscal 2009 levels;
Freeze potential target bonus awards for fiscal 2010 at their respective fiscal 2009 levels;

Set corporate financial performance targets for the achievement of up to 80% of each NEO s fiscal 2010 target
bonus award based on our achieving our stretch revenue and operating income budget goals for fiscal 2010.

Maintain the annual grant of time-vested non-qualified stock options to our NEOs as the sole element of our
long-term, incentive compensation program for our NEO s for fiscal 2010, and substantially reduce the relative
size of (and in some cases, eliminate) our NEO s individual annual stock option grants for fiscal 2010 from the
level of stock option grants made to each such NEO in fiscal 2009.

As noted above, Mr. Kackley, one of our directors, became our president and chief operating officer on July 22, 2009,
assuming Mr. Verfuerth s duties as president. Mr. Verfuerth s compensation arrangements were not affected by these
changes in our management structure. In light of the anticipated effect of these changes, however, our compensation
committee has decided to reevaluate our corporate financial and individual performance targets for purposes of our
management team s annual bonus opportunity for fiscal 2010. Our compensation committee has also committed to
reevaluating the executive compensation philosophy and actions adopted by the committee prior to our IPO after
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taking into account the then current economic conditions and our financial performance and prospects at or after the
end of fiscal 2010.

Mr. Kackley is not an NEO as defined by the SEC s rules for purposes of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis
and, accordingly, his compensation as our president and chief operating officer is not required to be discussed in this
section. Because Mr. Kackley is an executive officer and a significant addition to our management team, and because
we anticipate that Mr. Kackley may be a named executive officer in future years, we have

7
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included a brief summary of Mr. Kackley s initial compensation arrangements: pursuant to the offer letter, executive
employment and severance agreement and stock option award agreement that we signed with Mr. Kackley in
connection with his appointment as our president and chief operating officer, Mr. Kackley s initial term of employment
will run through July 31, 2011, with successive one-year renewals only if we and Mr. Kackley mutually agree.

Mr. Kackley s base salary for our fiscal year 2010 will be $300,000 and he will receive a cash incentive award with a
target payout equal to 75% of his base salary. Mr. Kackley will receive an automobile allowance and reimbursement
for certain commuting costs and temporary housing expenses, be entitled to participate in incentive plans and
programs and other employee benefit plans that are generally provided to our senior executives and receive a grant of
an option to purchase 35,000 shares of our common stock on August 3, 2009 at an exercise price per share equal to the
closing share price of our common stock on the grant date. Mr. Kackley s employment agreement and stock option
award agreement provide for protections upon a change of control of our company and certain terminations of
employment that are similar to those provided to our NEOs and discussed below under the heading Payments Upon
Termination or Change of Control.

Our compensation committee has reserved the right and discretion to make exceptions to the foregoing actions,
including as any such exception may apply to the determination of any and/or all of the relative base salaries, annual
cash bonuses, long-term incentive compensation and/or total direct compensation of our executives, for outstanding
contributions to the overall success of our company and the creation of shareholder value, as well as in cases where it
may be necessary or advisable to attract and/or retain executives who our compensation committee believes are or will
be key contributors to creating and sustaining shareholder value, as determined by our compensation committee based
on the recommendations of our chief executive officer (in all cases other than our chief executive officer s own
compensation).

Setting Executive Compensation

Our board of directors, our compensation committee and our chief executive officer each play a role in setting the

compensation of our NEOs. Our board of directors appoints the members of our compensation committee and

delegates to the compensation committee the direct responsibility for overseeing the design and administration of our

executive compensation program. During the last half of fiscal 2009 and through the first quarter of fiscal 2010, our

compensation committee was comprised of Messrs. Quadracci, Flaum and Stephenson. On July 22, 2009,

Mr. Williamson became a new member of our compensation committee, although he did not participate in the

committee s decisions described herein or in any review of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this

Form 10-K/A with our management. Each member of our compensation committee is an outside director for purposes

of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Code, and a
non-employee director for purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act.

Our compensation committee has primary responsibility for, among other things, determining our compensation
philosophy, evaluating the performance of our executive officers, setting the compensation and other benefits of our
executive officers, and administering our incentive compensation plans. Our chief executive officer makes
recommendations to our compensation committee regarding the compensation of other executive officers and attends
meetings of our compensation committee at which our compensation committee considers the compensation of other
executives. Our compensation committee considers these recommendations, but has the final discretionary
responsibility for determining the compensation of all of our executive officers.

Prior to our IPO and in determining the compensation for our NEOs for the remainder of fiscal 2008, as well as for
fiscal 2009, our compensation committee engaged Towers Perrin, a nationally-recognized compensation consulting
firm, to provide recommendations and advice on our executive and director compensation programs, to benchmark
our NEOs and directors compensation, to provide advice on change-of-control severance provisions, and to provide
advice regarding IPO bonuses for our NEOs. Towers Perrin provides no other services to our company other than in
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connection with its advice to our compensation committee and, therefore, our compensation committee believes
Towers Perrin s advice to be independently provided.

Pursuant to its engagement prior to our IPO, Towers Perrin provided our compensation committee with certain
benchmarking data for salaries, annual bonuses, long-term incentive compensation, total direct compensation and

non-employee director and independent chairman of the board compensation. In compiling the benchmarking data,
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Towers Perrin relied on the Towers Perrin 2007 Long-Term Incentive Survey, the Towers Perrin 2007 Executive
Compensation Survey, the Watson Wyatt 2006/2007 Top Management Compensation Survey and the Watson Wyatt
2007/2008 Middle Management Compensation Survey. To approximate our labor market, Towers Perrin used market
results corresponding to the participating companies in the surveys who are in the electrical equipment and supplies
industry or, to the extent such results were not available for a position, results corresponding to participating
companies in the durable goods manufacturing industry. Towers Perrin used regression analysis to adjust the survey
data to compensate for differences among the revenue sizes of the companies in the survey and our revenue size. In
making its compensation decisions, however, our compensation committee did not receive or review, and was not
aware of, the identities of the individual participating companies in the surveys on which Towers Perrin relied, which
information is proprietary and confidential to Towers Perrin. Accordingly, our compensation committee did not have
access to, or rely upon, the individual companies comprising such confidential and proprietary general market survey
data in determining the compensation of our NEOs.

Prior to our IPO and in then making its decisions for the remainder of fiscal 2008, as well as for fiscal 2009, our
compensation committee also specifically benchmarked the salaries, annual bonuses, long-term incentive
compensation, total direct compensation, perquisites and IPO bonuses paid to named executive officers at the
following industry peer group companies which were then deemed potentially comparable to our company:

Color Kinetics, Inc., Comverge, Inc., Echelon Corp., EnerNOC, Inc. and First Solar, Inc. Our compensation
committee considered this industry peer group benchmarking data, along with the Towers Perrin benchmarking data,
in connection our executive compensation programs described below that became effective upon the closing of our
IPO and which were effective for the remainder of fiscal 2008, as well as for fiscal 2009. The benchmarking data for
these specifically identified peer group companies was substantially identical to the Towers Perrin benchmarking data.

With respect to decisions on our executive compensation packages, and elements thereof, for fiscal 2010, our
compensation committee obtained the general advice and guidance of Towers Perrin as to recent executive
compensation market trends and practices of public companies in general, and recent executive long-term incentive
compensation practices in particular. Because of the general recessionary economic and industry conditions and their
adverse impact on our fiscal 2009 financial performance and fiscal 2010 prospects, the compensation committee, with
the concurrence and support of our chief executive officer, determined that it would (i) not pay our executives any
annual bonuses for fiscal 2009; (ii) freeze our executives fiscal 2010 base salaries and potential target bonus awards at
their respective fiscal 2009 levels; (iii) set corporate financial performance targets for the achievement of up to 80% of
each NEO s fiscal 2010 target bonus award based on our achieving our stretch revenue and operating income budget
goals for fiscal 2010; and (iv) substantially reduce (and, in some cases, eliminate) our NEOs long-term equity
incentive stock option grants for fiscal 2010. As a result of these factors and actions, the committee decided it did not
need to obtain from Towers Perrin or any other source any specific compensation benchmarking or comparable
company information in order to make such decisions. In addition, as noted above, in light of recent changes to our
management structure, our compensation committee has decided to reevaluate our corporate financial and individual
performance targets for purposes of our management team s annual bonus opportunity for fiscal 2010.

Elements of Executive Compensation

Our current executive compensation program for our NEOs consists of the following elements:
Base salary;
Annual incentive cash bonus compensation;

Long-term incentive compensation in the form of an annual time-vested non-qualified stock option grant; and
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Base Salary

We pay our NEOs a base salary to compensate them for services rendered and to provide them with a steady source of
income for living expenses throughout the year.

Prior to our IPO, our compensation committee reviewed the base salaries of all of our then serving NEOs. At that

time, our compensation committee based our then serving NEOs base salaries for the remainder of fiscal 2008, as well
as for fiscal 2009, on the recommendations of our chief executive officer (other than with respect to his base salary),

the general benchmarking data provided by Towers Perrin, data relating to the industry peer group companies

described above, and our compensation committee s then current views of the relative contributions of the NEOs to our
company s current and future performance.

Prior to our IPO, Mr. Verfuerth s base salary for the remainder of fiscal 2008, as well as for fiscal 2009, was
established at the 75th percentile of the benchmarking data for chief executive officers provided by Towers Perrin and
was higher than the base salaries of our other NEOs due in part to our committee s use of such benchmarking data,
which indicated that chief executive officers typically received higher base salaries than other executive officers in
their organizations, and in part due to our compensation committee s recognition prior to our IPO of Mr. Verfuerth s
critical importance to our company and his key role in our past performance and our future performance. Prior to our
IPO, our compensation committee established the base salary of Ms. Verfuerth at approximately the median level for
similarly-situated executives based on the benchmarking data provided by Towers Perrin and established the base
salaries of Messrs. Waibel and Scribante at a level higher than the 75th percentile of the benchmarking data provided
by Towers Perrin based on the recommendation of our chief executive officer and our compensation committee s then
current view that Messrs. Waibel and Scribante were key contributors to our company s current and future
performance.

On July 15, 2008, we changed Mr. Waibel s position from chief financial officer and treasurer to president of our asset
management division, and we promoted Mr. Jensen to chief financial officer and treasurer from his prior position as
our controller. In connection with such changes, the committee kept Mr. Waibel s total direct compensation at the
same level as prior to the change, and the committee increased Mr. Jensen s salary from $115,000 to $165,000 in order
to reflect Mr. Jensen s significant increased responsibilities. Despite this substantial increase, the committee
recognized that this level of base salary for Mr. Jensen in his new position was significantly below the median level

for similarly-situated executives based on the benchmarking data provided by Towers Perrin prior to our IPO and, at
the time, determined that it would revisit Mr. Jensen s base salary level after the end of fiscal 2009 and as part of the
committee s normal annual salary review cycle for all NEOs.

For the reasons described above, our compensation committee froze the fiscal 2010 base salaries for our NEOs at their
respective fiscal 2009 levels as follows:
Name and Position BaseSalary ($)

Neal R. Verfuerth

Chief Executive Officer $ 460,000
Daniel J. Waibel

President of Orion Asset Management 225,000
John H. Scribante

Senior Vice President of Business Development 225,000

Patricia A. Verfuerth
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Vice President of Operations 175,000
Scott R. Jensen
Chief Financial Officer 165,000

Annual Cash Bonus Incentive Compensation

We intend our annual cash bonus program to reward executives with annual cash bonuses based on a broad

combination of factors, including our corporate financial performance and the executive s individual performance.

Prior to our IPO, and in then establishing the target potential bonus levels for our NEOs for the remainder of fiscal
2008, as well as for fiscal 2009, our compensation committee then believed that an executive s annual cash
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performance bonus potential should generally be established at a relative level that was equal to or exceeded the
median level for similarly situated executives at comparable public companies. In the case of individual executives
who were then deemed to be key contributors to our company s current and future performance, our compensation
committee prior to our IPO then believed we should establish potential annual cash bonus amounts at a level that
equaled or exceeded the 75th percentile for similarly situated executives at comparable public companies.

Prior to our IPO and other than with respect to Mr. Jensen, our compensation committee then established target bonus
ranges, which are reflected in the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table below, with reference to the benchmarking data
described above. For Messrs. Verfuerth and Waibel, prior to our IPO, our compensation committee then established
ranges centered at the 75th percentile, and for Mr. Scribante at 60% above the 75th percentile, of the target annual
bonuses indicated by the benchmarking data, because our compensation committee at that time (i) viewed

Messrs. Verfuerth, Waibel and Scribante as key contributors to our company s current and future performance and
(ii) desired each of Messrs. Waibel and Scribante to be entitled to approximately the same bonus opportunity as our
executive vice president because of their then perceived equivalent relative importance to our company. For

Ms. Verfuerth, prior to our IPO, our compensation committee then established a bonus range at a level centered near
the median of the target annual bonuses indicated by the benchmarking data. In subjectively determining Mr. Jensen s
target annual bonus percentage upon his promotion to becoming our chief financial officer and treasurer on July 15,
2008, our committee took into account the relative target bonus percentages of our other NEOs and subjectively
selected a target percentage that it believed was appropriate in comparison to such other NEOs.

For fiscal 2009, consistent with this philosophy, and based on the recommendations of Towers Perrin prior to our IPO,
our compensation committee approved an Executive Fiscal Year 2009 Annual Cash Incentive Program, which we
refer to as our Fiscal 2009 Cash Incentive Program, under our 2004 Stock and Incentive Awards Plan. Our
compensation committee set payout ranges for our NEOs, expressed as a percentage of their respective fiscal 2009
base salaries, as follows:

Approximate Fiscal

2009 Bonus Range
(% of Fiscal 2009 Base
Name and Position Salary)
Neal R. Verfuerth
Chief Executive Officer 75-125%
Daniel J. Waibel
President of Orion Asset Management 29-49
John H. Scribante
Senior Vice President of Business Development 30-50
Patricia A. Verfuerth
Vice President of Operations 23-38
Scott R. Jensen
Chief Financial Officer 26-44

At the beginning of fiscal 2009, based on our company s then budgeted financial performance for that fiscal year, our
compensation committee established applicable revenue and operating income targets for fiscal 2009. For each
financial target, our compensation committee also established a threshold minimum level of financial performance and
a maximum level of financial performance relative to each target. If our actual financial performance equaled each
targeted financial metric, then the portion of our annual cash incentive bonus payouts based on achieving that
financial target would have been equal to 100% of the targeted bonus amount. If we did not achieve the specified
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minimum threshold level of financial performance for each targeted financial metric, then no incentive bonus payout
based on that financial performance metric would be paid. If we equaled the specified minimum threshold level of
financial performance for each targeted financial performance metric, then we would pay out 75% of the targeted
amount of the incentive bonus based on that financial performance metric. If we equaled or exceeded the specified
maximum level of financial performance for each targeted financial metric, then we would pay out 125% of the
targeted amount of the incentive bonus based on that financial performance metric. Financial performance between the
threshold and target levels and between the target and maximum levels for each financial performance metric would
have resulted in a prorated portion of the financial-based bonus being paid.
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Under our Fiscal 2009 Cash Incentive Program, (i) 40% of each NEO s fiscal 2009 target bonus award was based on
our achieving a targeted revenue goal of $121.0 million (with a minimum threshold target of $90.7 million and up to
$151.3 million as a maximum target); (ii) 40% of each NEO s fiscal 2009 target bonus award was based on our
achieving a targeted operating income goal of $19.6 million (with a minimum threshold target of $14.7 million and up
to $24.5 million as a maximum target); and (iii) 20% of each NEO s fiscal 2009 target bonus award was based on
subjective individual performance criteria to be determined by our compensation committee in its discretion based on
the recommendations of our chief executive officer (other than respecting himself).

Because our fiscal 2009 revenue and operating income were each substantially less than our minimum threshold
targets, no bonus payments tied to the achievement of either our revenue or operating income goals were payable for
fiscal 2009. Additionally, as described above, although we did not pre-establish any objective individual performance
goals for our NEOs for fiscal 2009, based on the subjective judgment of our compensation committee and with the
concurrence and support of our chief executive officer, our compensation committee determined not to award any
bonus payments to our NEOs under our Fiscal 2009 Cash Incentive Program for fiscal 2009 based on the individual
performance of our NEOs. In making this determination, no specific individual performance criteria or factors were
identified or otherwise used in evaluating the performance of the individual NEOs or in determining not to make any
individual performance bonus payments to our NEOs. The members of our compensation committee subjectively
evaluated the individual performance of our NEOs as a whole within the context of our fiscal 2009 corporate financial
performance compared to our goals and objectives for the fiscal year, and without consideration of any specifically
identifiable individual performance criteria or factors.

In light of the current recessionary economic and industry market conditions and their adverse impact on our fiscal
2009 financial results and our fiscal 2010 prospects, at the beginning of fiscal 2010, our compensation committee
decided to freeze our NEO s potential annual cash incentive bonus potential payouts for fiscal 2010 at their respective
fiscal 2009 levels, all as set forth in the table above. Fiscal 2010 target bonus awards under our Executive Fiscal Year
2010 Annual Cash Incentive Award Program, as adopted by our compensation committee earlier this fiscal year, will
be determined based on the same weighted formula used for the Fiscal 2009 Cash Incentive Plan. As discussed above,
in light of recent changes to our management structure, our compensation committee has decided to reevaluate our
corporate financial and individual performance targets for purposes of our management team s annual bonus
opportunity for fiscal 2010.

In connection with and prior to our IPO, our compensation committee granted an award to Mr. Verfuerth consisting of
a potential stock price performance cash bonus of $100,000 per each $1.00 that the price of a share of our common
stock increased over our IPO price of $13.00 per share as of the first annual anniversary date of the closing of our IPO.
Mr. Verfuerth s stock price performance cash bonus was capped at $1.5 million. Because our stock price on the first
anniversary of our IPO had decreased substantially from our IPO price, Mr. Verfuerth did not receive any IPO bonus.

Long-Term Equity Incentive Compensation

We provide the opportunity for our NEOs to earn long-term equity incentive awards under our 2004 Stock and
Incentive Awards Plan. Our employees, officers, directors and consultants are eligible to participate in this plan. Our
compensation committee believes that long-term equity incentive awards enhance the alignment of the interests of our
NEOs and the interests of our shareholders and provide our NEOs with incentives to remain in our employment.

Our compensation committee seeks to base a significant portion of the total direct compensation payable to our
executives on the creation of shareholder value in order to link executive pay to shareholder value, and also to reward
executives for increasing shareholder value. Our compensation committee also believes that this emphasis on
long-term equity-based incentive compensation may help facilitate executive retention and loyalty and motivate our
executives to achieve strong financial performance. Prior to our IPO and effective for the remainder of fiscal 2008, as

Table of Contents 25



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

well as for fiscal 2009, our compensation committee then generally intended to establish our executives long-term
incentive compensation potential at or above the median level for similarly situated executives at comparable
companies. Prior to our IPO, in the case of individual executives whom the committee then deemed to be key
contributors to our current and future performance, the committee believed it should target long-term
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incentive compensation at a level that equaled or exceeded the 75th percentile for similarly situated executives at
comparable public companies.

Our compensation committee awards long-term equity incentives to our executives on an annual basis beginning at
the beginning of each fiscal year. We have historically granted long-term equity incentive awards solely in the form of
options to purchase shares of our common stock, which are initially subject to forfeiture if the executive s employment
terminates for any reason. The options generally vest and become exercisable ratably over five years, contingent on
the executive s continued employment. In the past, we have granted both incentive stock options and non-qualified
stock options to our NEOs; however, beginning in fiscal 2009, our compensation committee decided to grant only
non-qualified stock options to our NEOs and all other employees because of the related tax benefits of non-qualified
stock options to our company. We use time-vesting stock options as our sole source of long-term equity incentive
compensation to our NEOs because we believe that (i) stock options help to align the interests of our NEOs with the
interests of our shareholders by linking their compensation with the increase in value of our common stock over time;
(ii) stock options conserve our cash resources for use in our business; and (iii) vesting requirements on our stock
options provide our NEOs with incentive to continue their employment with us which, in turn, provides us with
retention benefits and greater stability.

For the reasons described above, at the beginning of fiscal 2010 and in determining the relative dollar amount of our
fiscal 2010 annual option grants as reflected in the table below, our compensation committee decided to reduce
substantially (or, in some cases, eliminate) the level of fiscal 2010 annual stock option grants to our NEOs compared
to their fiscal 2009 levels. The specific relative dollar amounts of the reduced (or, in some cases eliminated) fiscal
2010 grants were determined subjectively by our committee for the reasons described above and without any further
reference to any specific benchmarking or survey data. The number of common shares represented by such fiscal 2010
grants was determined based on the closing sale price of our shares on the third business day after the public release of
our fiscal 2009 financial results. The specific relative dollar amount of our fiscal 2009 option grants as reflected in the
table below were determined by our compensation committee on July 30, 2008 based on the criteria and information
described above, with the number of common shares represented by such grants determined based on the closing sale
price of our shares on the third business day after the public release of our fiscal 2009 first quarter financial results.

Fiscal 2009 Option Grant Fiscal 2010 Option Grant

Name and Position Fair Value ($)/Shares (#) Fair Value ($)/Shares (#)

Neal R. Verfuerth

Chief Executive Officer $ 330,000/108,911 $ 150,000/35,276

Daniel J. Waibel V> $ % %o
Chevron revenue 1,069 17 % 1,859 26 % 2,30230%

8
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Raw Materials and Suppliers

Equipment and materials essential to our business are obtained from a variety of sources throughout the world. The
principal equipment and materials we use in our business are subject to availability and price fluctuations due to
customer demand, producer capacity and market conditions. We monitor the availability and price of equipment and
materials on a regular basis. Our procurement department seeks to leverage our size and buying power to ensure that
we have access to key equipment and materials at the best possible prices and delivery schedules. While we do not
currently foresee any significant lack of availability of equipment and materials in the near term, the availability of
these items may vary significantly from year to year and any prolonged unavailability or significant price increases for
equipment and materials necessary to our projects and services could have a material adverse effect on our business.
See “Item 1A. Risk Factors” for more information.

Intellectual Property

We have developed or otherwise have the right to license leading technologies, including technologies held under
license from third parties, used for the production of a variety of petrochemicals and chemicals and in the areas of
olefins, refining, fertilizers, coal gasification and semi-submersible technology. We also license a variety of
technologies for the transformation of raw materials into commodity chemicals such as phenol and aniline used in the
production of consumer-end products. In addition, we are a licensor of ammonia process technologies used in the
conversion of synthetic gas to ammonia. We believe our technology portfolio and experience in the commercial
application of these technologies and related know-how differentiates us, enhances our margins and encourages
customers to utilize our broad range of EPC and construction services.

Our rights to make use of technologies licensed to us are governed by written agreements of varying durations,
including some with fixed terms that are subject to renewal based on mutual agreement. Generally, each agreement
may be further extended and we have historically been able to renew existing agreements before they expire. We
expect these and other similar agreements to be extended so long as it is mutually advantageous to both parties at the
time of renewal. However, the majority of our license fees tend to result in a one-time payment per agreement rather
than ongoing royalty-type payments. For technologies we own, we protect our rights, know-how and trade secrets
through patents and confidentiality agreements. Our expenditures for research and development activities were
immaterial in each of the past three fiscal years.

Seasonality

Our operations are not generally affected by seasonality. Weather and natural phenomena can temporarily affect the
performance of our services.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 25,000 employees, of which approximately 10% were subject to
collective bargaining agreements. Based upon the geographic diversification of our employees, we believe any risk of
loss from employee strikes or other collective actions would not be material to the conduct of our operations taken as
a whole.

Health and Safety
We are subject to numerous health and safety laws and regulations. In the United States, these laws and regulations
include the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and comparable state legislation, the Mine Safety and Health

Administration laws, and safety requirements of the Departments of State, Defense, Energy and Transportation of the
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U.S. government. We are also subject to similar requirements in other countries in which we have extensive
operations, including the U.K. where we are subject to the various regulations enacted by the Health and Safety Act of
1974.

These laws and regulations are frequently changing and it is impossible to predict the effect of such laws and
regulations on us in the future. We actively seek to maintain a safe, healthy and environmentally friendly work place
for all of our employees and those who work with us. However, we provide some of our services in high-risk locations
and, as a result; we may incur substantial costs to maintain the safety and security of our personnel.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, we embarked on a global Zero Harm initiative in order to reinforce health, safety,
security and environment as key components of the KBR culture and lifestyle. This initiative incorporates three
dynamic components, Zero Harm, 24/7 and courage to care which empowers individuals to take responsibility for
their health and safety, as well as that of their colleagues.
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Environmental Regulation

We are subject to numerous environmental, legal and regulatory requirements related to our operations worldwide. In
the U.S., these laws and regulations include, among others: the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act; the Resources Conservation and Recovery Act; the Clean Air Act; the Clean Water
Act; and the Toxic Substances Control Act. In addition to federal and state laws and regulations, other countries where
we do business often have numerous environmental regulatory requirements by which we must abide in the normal
course of our operations. These requirements apply to our business segments where we perform construction and
industrial maintenance services or operate and maintain facilities.

We continue to monitor conditions at sites owned or previously owned, and until further information is available, we
are only able to estimate a possible range of remediation costs. These locations were primarily utilized for
manufacturing or fabrication work and are no longer in operation. The use of these facilities created various
environmental issues including deposits of metals, volatile and semi-volatile compounds and hydrocarbons impacting
surface and subsurface soils and groundwater. The range of remediation costs could change depending on our ongoing
site analysis and the timing and techniques used to implement remediation activities. We do not expect that costs
related to environmental matters will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of
operations. Based on the information presently available to us, as of December 31, 2014, we have accrued
approximately $1 million for the assessment and remediation costs associated with all environmental matters and we
do not anticipate incurring additional costs. See Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements for more information
on environmental matters.

We have been named as a potentially responsible party in various clean-up actions taken by federal and state agencies
in the U.S. At this time, we are unable to determine whether we will ultimately be deemed responsible for any costs
associated with these actions.

Existing or pending climate change legislation, regulations, international treaties or accords are not expected to have a
short-term material direct effect on our business, the markets that we serve or on our results of operations or financial
position. However, climate change legislation could have a direct effect on our customers or suppliers, which could
impact our business. For example, our commodity-based markets depend on the level of activity of mineral and oil
and gas companies and existing or future laws, regulations, treaties or international agreements related to climate
change, including incentives to conserve energy or use alternative energy sources, which could impact our business if
such laws, regulations, treaties or international agreements reduce the worldwide demand for minerals, oil and natural
gas. We will continue to monitor developments in this area.

Compliance

Conducting our business with ethics and integrity is a key priority for KBR. We are subject to numerous
compliance-related laws and regulations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA"), the U.K.
Bribery Act, other applicable anti-bribery legislation and laws and regulations regarding trade and exports. We are
also governed by our own Code of Business Conduct and other compliance-related corporate policies and procedures
that mandate compliance with these laws. Our Code of Business Conduct is a guide for every employee in applying
legal and ethical practices to our everyday work. The Code of Business Conduct describes not only our standards of
integrity but also some of the specific principles and areas of the law that are most likely to affect our business. We
regularly train our employees regarding anti-bribery issues and our Code of Business Conduct.

Website Access
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Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are made
available free of charge on our Internet website at www.kbr.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we have
electronically filed the material with, or furnished it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The
public may read and copy any materials we have filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet website that contains our reports, proxy and
information statements and our other SEC filings. The address of that website is www.sec.gov. We have posted on our
website our Code of Business Conduct, which applies to all of our employees and Directors and serves as a code of
ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and other persons
performing similar functions. Any amendments to our Code of Business Conduct or any waivers from provisions of
our Code of Business Conduct granted to the specified officers above are disclosed on our website within four
business days after the date of any amendment or waiver pertaining to these officers. No such waivers were granted
during 2014.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Operations of our Business
Our results of operations depend on the award of new contracts and the timing of the performance of these contracts.

A substantial portion of our revenues is directly or indirectly derived from new contract awards. Delays in the timing
of the awards or potential cancellations of such prospects as a result of economic conditions, material and equipment
pricing and availability or other factors could impact our long-term projected results. It is particularly difficult to
predict whether or when we will receive large-scale international and domestic projects as these contracts frequently
involve a lengthy and complex bidding and selection process, which is affected by a number of factors, such as market
conditions, governmental and environmental approvals. Since a significant portion of our revenues is generated from
such projects, our results of operations and cash flows can fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter depending on
the timing of our contract awards and the commencement or progress of work under awarded contracts. In addition,
many of these contracts are subject to financing contingencies and as a result, we are subject to the risk that the
customer will not be able to secure the necessary financing for the project.

The uncertainty of our contract award timing can also present difficulties in matching workforce size with contract
needs. In some cases, we maintain and bear the cost of a ready workforce that is larger than necessary under existing
contracts in anticipation of future workforce needs for expected contract awards. If an expected contract award is
delayed or not received, we may incur additional costs resulting from reductions in staff or redundancy of facilities
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The nature of our contracts, particularly those that are fixed-price, subjects us to risks associated with cost over-runs,
operating cost inflation and potential claims for liquidated damages.

We conduct our business under various types of contracts where costs must be estimated in advance of our
performance. Approximately 40% of the value of our backlog is attributable to fixed-price contracts, which include
our unit-rate contracts where we bear a significant portion of the risk of cost over-runs. These types of contracts are
priced based in part on cost and scheduling estimates that are based on assumptions including prices and availability
of labor, equipment and materials as well as productivity, performance and future economic conditions. If these
estimates prove inaccurate, there are errors or ambiguities as to contract specifications or if circumstances change due
to, among other things, unanticipated technical problems, difficulties in obtaining permits or approvals, changes in
local laws or labor conditions, weather delays, changes in the costs of equipment and materials or our suppliers’ or
subcontractors’ inability to perform, then cost overruns may occur. We may not be able to obtain compensation for
additional work performed or expenses incurred. Additionally, we may be required to pay liquidated damages upon
our failure to meet schedule or performance requirements of our contracts. Our failure to accurately estimate the
resources and time required for fixed-price contracts or our failure to complete our contractual obligations within the
time frame and costs committed could result in reduced profits or, in certain cases, a loss for that contract. If the
contract is significant, or we encounter issues that impact multiple contracts, cost overruns could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to attract and retain a sufficient number of affordable trained engineers, craft labor, and other skilled
workers, our ability to pursue projects may be adversely affected and our costs may increase.

Our rate of growth and the success of our business depend upon our ability to attract, develop and retain a sufficient
number of affordable trained engineers, craft labor and other skilled workers either through direct hire or acquisition
of other firms employing such professionals. The market for these professionals is competitive. If we are unable to
attract and retain a sufficient number of skilled personnel, our ability to pursue projects may be adversely affected, the
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costs of executing our existing and future projects may increase and our financial performance may decline.

We conduct a portion of our engineering and construction operations through joint ventures and partnerships exposing
us to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control.

We conduct a portion of our EPC operations through large project-specific joint ventures where control may be shared
with unaffiliated third parties. As with any joint venture arrangement, differences in views among the joint venture
participants may result in delayed decisions or in failures to agree on major issues. We also cannot control the actions
of our joint venture partners, including any nonperformance, default or bankruptcy of our joint venture partners, and
we typically share liabilities on a joint and several basis with our joint venture partners under these arrangements. If
our partners do not meet their contractual obligations, the joint venture may be unable to adequately perform and
deliver its contracted services, requiring us to make additional investments or perform additional services to ensure the
adequate performance and delivery of services to our customer. We could be liable for both our obligations and those
of our partners, which may result in reduced profits or, in some cases, significant losses on the
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project. Additionally, these factors could have a material adverse effect on the business operations of the joint venture
and, in turn, our business operations and reputation.

Operating through joint ventures in which we have a minority interest could result in us having limited control over
many decisions made with respect to projects and internal controls relating to projects. These joint ventures may not
be subject to the same requirements regarding internal controls and internal control reporting that we follow. As a
result, internal control issues may arise, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations. Additionally, in order to establish or preserve relationships with our joint venture partners, we
may agree to risks and contributions of resources that are proportionately greater than the returns we could receive,
which could reduce our income and returns on these investments compared to what we may have received if the risks
and resources we contributed were always proportionate to our returns.

The nature of our engineering and construction business exposes us to potential liability claims and contract disputes
which may exceed or be excluded from existing insurance coverage.

We engage in engineering and construction activities for large facilities where design, construction or systems failures
can result in substantial injury or damage to employees or other third parties or delays in completion or
commencement of commercial operations, exposing us to legal proceedings, investigations and disputes. The nature of
our business results in clients, subcontractors and vendors occasionally presenting claims against us for recovery of
costs they incurred in excess of what they expected to incur or for which they believe they are not contractually liable.
When it is determined that we have liability, we may not be covered by insurance or, if covered, the dollar amount of
these liabilities may exceed our policy limits. Our professional liability coverage is on a “claims-made” basis covering
only claims actually made during the policy period currently in effect. In addition, even where insurance is maintained
for such exposures, the policies have deductibles, which result in our assumption of exposure for a layer of coverage
with respect to any such claims. Any liability not covered by our insurance, in excess of our insurance limits or if
covered by insurance but subject to a high deductible could result in a significant loss for us, which may reduce our
profits and cash available for operations.

We occasionally bring claims against project owners for additional costs exceeding the contract price or for amounts
not included in the original contract price. These types of claims occur due to matters such as owner-caused delays or
changes from the initial project scope which may result in additional direct and indirect costs. Often these claims can
be the subject of lengthy arbitration or litigation proceedings, and it is difficult to accurately predict when these claims
will be fully resolved. When these types of events occur and unresolved claims are pending, we may invest significant
working capital in projects to cover cost overruns pending the resolution of the relevant claims. A failure to promptly
recover on these types of claims could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity and financial results.

International and political events may adversely affect our operations.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from foreign operations, which exposes us to risks inherent in doing
business in each of the countries where we transact business. The occurrence of any of the risks described below could
have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial performance. With respect to any particular
country, these risks may include, but not be limited to:

expropriation and nationalization of our assets in that country;

political and economic instability;

civil unrest, acts of terrorism, force majeure, war or other armed conflict;
currency fluctuations, devaluations and conversion restrictions;
confiscatory taxation or other adverse tax policies; or
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governmental activities or judicial actions that limit or disrupt markets, restrict payments, limit the movement of

funds, result in the deprivation of contract rights or result in the inability for us to obtain or retain licenses required for

operation.

Due to the unsettled political conditions in many oil-producing countries and other countries where we provide
governmental logistical support, our financial performance is subject to the adverse consequences of war, the effects
of terrorism, civil unrest, strikes, currency controls and governmental actions. Our operations are conducted in areas
that have significant political risk. In addition, military action or unrest in such locations as the Middle East could
restrict the supply of oil and gas, disrupt our operations in the region and elsewhere and increase our costs related to

security worldwide.
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We may have additional tax liabilities associated with our domestic and international operations.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions, many of which are developing
countries. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes due to lack of
clear and concise tax laws and regulations in certain jurisdictions. It is not unlikely that laws may be changed or
clarified and such changes may require material changes to our tax provisions. We are audited by various U.S. and
foreign tax authorities and in the ordinary course of our business there are many transactions and calculations where
the ultimate tax determination may be uncertain. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable, the final
outcome of tax audits and related litigation could be materially different from that which is reflected in our financial
statements. In addition, because of the changing nature of our projects, geographic locations, etc. our effective tax
rates in future years may differ materially from previous years.

We work in international locations where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to our employees
and contractors or substantial costs.

Some of our services are performed in high-risk locations, such as Iraq, Afghanistan, certain parts of Africa and the
Middle East, where the country or surrounding area is suffering from political, social or economic issues, war or civil
unrest. In those locations where we have employees or operations, we have and may continue to incur substantial
costs to maintain the safety of our personnel. Despite these precautions, we have suffered the loss of employees and
contractors that has resulted in claims and litigation. In the future, the safety of our personnel in these and other
locations may continue to be at risk, exposing us to the potential loss of additional employees and contractors that
could lead to future claims and litigation.

We ship a significant amount of cargo using seagoing vessels exposing us to certain maritime risks.

We execute different projects in remote locations around the world. Depending on the type of contract, location and
the nature of the work, we may charter seagoing vessels under time and bareboat charter arrangements and assume
certain risks typical of those agreements. Such risks may include damage to the ship, liability for cargo and liability
which charterers and vessel operators have to third parties “at law.” In addition, we ship a significant amount of cargo
and are subject to hazards of the shipping and transportation industry.

Demand for our services depends on demand and capital spending by customers in their target markets, many of
which are cyclical in nature.

Demand for many of our services in our commodity-based markets depends on capital spending by oil and natural gas
companies, including national and international oil companies, and by industrial companies, which is directly affected
by trends in oil, natural gas and commodities prices. Capital expenditures for refining and distribution facilities by
large oil and gas companies have a significant impact on the activity levels of our businesses. Demand for LNG
facilities for which we provide services could decrease in the event of a sustained reduction in the price and demand
for crude oil or natural gas. Perceptions of longer-term lower oil and natural gas prices by oil and gas companies or
longer-term higher material and contractor prices impacting facility costs can similarly reduce or defer major
expenditures given the long-term nature of many large-scale projects. Prices of oil, natural gas and commodities are
subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a
variety of other factors that are beyond our control. Factors affecting the prices of oil, natural gas and other
commodities include, but are not limited to:

worldwide or regional political, social or civil unrest, military action and economic conditions;
the level of demand for oil, natural gas, industrial services and power generation;
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governmental regulations or policies, including the policies of governments regarding the use of energy and the
exploration for and production and development of their oil and natural gas reserves;
a reduction in energy demand as a result of energy taxation or a change in consumer spending patterns;

elobal economic growth or decline;

the level of oil production by non-OPEC countries and the available excess production capacity from OPEC countries;
elobal weather conditions and natural disasters;

oil refining capacity;

shifts in end-customer preferences toward fuel efficiency and the use of natural gas;

potential acceleration of the development and expanded use of alternative fuels;

environmental regulation, including limitations on fossil fuel consumption based on concerns about its relationship to

climate change; and
reduction in demand for the commodity-based markets in which we operate.

Historically, the markets for oil and natural gas have been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile in the
future.
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Crude oil and natural gas prices are extremely volatile. A substantial or extended decline in the price of oil and natural
gas could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our business segment revenues are highly dependent on capital expenditures for LNG, refining and distribution
facilities and other investments by large oil and gas companies. The demand for these facilities and the ability of our
customers to borrow and obtain additional capital on attractive terms is also substantially dependent upon crude oil
and natural gas prices. As seen in the recent decline in crude prices, prices of oil and natural gas are subject to large
fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a variety of other
factors that are beyond our control. Demand for the services we provide could decrease in the event of a sustained
reduction in demand for crude oil or natural gas, while perceptions of long-term decline in crude oil and natural gas
prices by oil and gas companies (our customers) can similarly reduce or defer major expenditures given the long-term
nature of many large-scale projects.

Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and, therefore, may not be a reliable indicator of
our future revenues or earnings.

As of December 31, 2014, our backlog was approximately $10.9 billion. We cannot guarantee that the revenues
projected in our backlog will be realized or that the projects will be profitable. Many of our contracts are subject to
cancellation, termination or suspension at the discretion of the customer. From time to time, changes in project scope
may occur with respect to contracts reflected in our backlog and could reduce the dollar amount of our backlog and
the timing of the revenues and profits that we actually earn. Projects may remain in our backlog for an extended
period of time because of the nature of the project and the timing of the particular services or equipment required by
the project. Delays, suspensions, cancellations, payment defaults, scope changes and poor project execution could
materially reduce or eliminate profits that we actually realize from projects in backlog. We cannot predict the impact
that future economic conditions may have on our backlog, which could include a diminished ability to replace backlog
once projects are completed or could result in the termination, modification or suspension of projects currently in our
backlog. Such developments could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows.

Intense competition in the engineering and construction industry could reduce our market share and profits.

We serve markets that are highly competitive and in which a large number of multinational companies compete.
These highly competitive markets require substantial resources and capital investment in equipment, technology and
skilled personnel. Our projects are frequently awarded through a competitive bidding process, which is standard in our
industry. We are constantly competing for project awards based on pricing and the breadth and technical
sophistication of our services. Any increase in competition or reduction in our competitive capabilities could have a
material adverse effect on the margins we generate from our projects as well as our ability to maintain or increase
market share.

A portion of our revenues is generated by large, recurring business from certain significant customers. A loss,
cancellation or delay in projects by our significant customers in the future could negatively affect our revenues.

We provide services to a diverse customer base, including IOCs, NOCs, independent refiners, petrochemical
producers, fertilizer producers, chemical producers, manufacturers, domestic and foreign governments and regulated
electric utilities. A considerable percentage of revenues is generated from transactions with Chevron primarily from
our E&C business segment. Revenues from Chevron in 2014 represented 17% of our total consolidated revenues.

Dependence on craft labor, subcontractors and equipment manufacturers could adversely affect our profits.
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We rely on local craft labor, third party subcontractors as well as third party equipment manufacturers to complete our
projects. To the extent that we cannot engage craft labor, subcontractors or acquire equipment or materials, our ability
to complete a project in a timely fashion or at a profit may be impaired. If the amount we are required to pay for these
goods and services exceeds the amount we have estimated in bidding for fixed price contracts, we could experience
losses in the performance of these contracts. In addition, if a subcontractor or a manufacturer is unable to deliver its
services, equipment or materials according to the negotiated terms for any reason, including the deterioration of its
financial condition, we may be required to purchase the services, equipment or materials from another source at a
higher price. This may reduce the profit we expect to realize or result in a loss on a project for which the services,
equipment or materials were needed.
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If we are unable to enforce our intellectual property rights, or if our intellectual property rights become obsolete, our
competitive position could be adversely impacted.

We utilize a variety of intellectual property rights in the provisioning of services to our customers. We view our
portfolio of process and design technologies as one of our competitive strengths and we use it as part of our efforts to
differentiate our service offerings. We may not be able to successfully preserve these intellectual property rights in the
future, and these rights could be invalidated, circumvented, challenged or infringed upon. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries in which our services may be sold do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent
as the laws of the United States. Since we license technologies from third parties, there is a risk that our relationships
with licensors may terminate, expire or be interrupted or harmed. In some, but not all cases, we may be able to obtain
the necessary intellectual property rights from alternative sources. If we are unable to protect and maintain our
intellectual property rights, or if there are any successful intellectual property challenges or infringement proceedings
against us, our ability to differentiate our service offerings could diminish. In addition, if our intellectual property
rights or work processes become obsolete, we may not be able to differentiate our service offerings and some of our
competitors may be able to offer more attractive services to our customers. As a result, our business and financial
performance could be materially and adversely affected.

Our current business strategy includes the possibility of acquisitions, which may present certain risks and
uncertainties.

We may seek business acquisitions as a means of broadening our offerings and capturing additional market
opportunities by our business segments and we may be exposed to certain additional risks resulting from these
activities. These risks include, but are not limited to the following:

¥ aluation methodologies may not accurately capture the value proposition;

Future completed acquisitions may not be integrated within our operations with the efficiency and effectiveness
tnitially expected, resulting in a potentially significant detriment to the associated product/service line financial results
and posing additional risks to our operations as a whole;

We may have difficulty managing our growth from acquisition activities;

Key personnel within an acquired organization may resign from their related positions resulting in a significant loss to
our strategic and operational efficiency associated with the acquired company;

The effectiveness of our daily operations may be reduced by the redirection of employees and other resources to
acquisition activities;

We may assume liabilities of an acquired business (e.g. litigation, tax liabilities, contingent liabilities, environmental
tssues), including liabilities that were unknown at the time of the acquisition, that pose future risks to our working
capital needs, cash flows and the profitability of related operations;

We may assume unprofitable projects that pose future risks to our working capital needs, cash flows and the
profitability of related operations;

Business acquisitions may include substantial transactional costs to complete the acquisition that exceed the estimated
financial and operational benefits; or

Future acquisitions may require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on
attractive terms, if at all. Moreover, to the extent an acquisition transaction results in additional goodwill, it will
reduce our tangible net worth, which might have an adverse effect on our credit capacity.

We rely on information technology ("IT") systems to conduct our business, and disruption, failure or security breaches
of these systems could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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We rely heavily on IT systems in order to achieve our business objectives. We also rely upon industry accepted
security measures and technology to securely maintain confidential and proprietary information maintained on our IT
systems. However, our portfolio of hardware and software products, solutions and services and our enterprise IT
systems may be vulnerable to damage or disruption caused by circumstances beyond our control such as catastrophic
events, power outages, natural disasters, computer system or network failures, computer viruses, cyber-attacks or
other malicious software programs. The failure of our IT systems to perform as anticipated for any reason could
disrupt our business and result in decreased performance, significant remediation costs, transaction errors, loss of data,
processing inefficiencies, downtime, litigation and the loss of suppliers or customers. We have experienced security
threats, none of which we considered to be significant to our business or results of operations, but significant
disruption or failure could have a material adverse effect on our business operations, financial performance and
financial condition.
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An impairment of all or part of our goodwill and/or our intangible assets could have a material adverse impact on our
net earnings and net worth.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $324 million of goodwill and $41 million of intangible assets recorded on our
consolidated balance sheets. Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair market value of net assets acquired in
business combinations. If our market capitalization drops significantly below the amount of net equity recorded on our
balance sheets, it might indicate a decline in our fair value and would require us to further evaluate whether our
goodwill has been impaired. We perform an annual and an interim analysis, if appropriate, of our goodwill to
determine if it has become impaired. The analysis requires us to make assumptions in estimates of fair value of our
reporting units. If actual results are significantly different from the estimates, we might be required to write down the
impaired portion of goodwill. An impairment of all or a part of our goodwill and/or intangible assets could have a
material adverse effect on our net earnings and net worth.

Our use of the percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition could result in a reduction or reversal of
previously recorded revenues and profits.

A substantial portion of our revenues and profits are measured and recognized using the percentage-of-completion
method of revenue recognition. Our use of this accounting method results in recognition of revenues and profits over
the life of a contract, based generally on the proportion of costs incurred to date to total costs expected to be incurred
for the entire project, the ratio of hours performed to date to our estimate of total expected hours at completion, or the
physical progress methodology. The effects of revisions to estimated revenues and estimated costs are recorded when
the amounts are known or can be reasonably estimated. Such revisions could occur in any period and their effects
could be material. Although we have historically made reasonably reliable estimates of the progress towards
completion of long-term engineering, program management, construction management or construction contracts, the
uncertainties inherent in the estimating process make it possible for actual costs to vary materially from estimates,
including reductions or reversals of previously recorded revenues and profits.

Risks Related to Government Operations of our Business

The U.S. government awards its contracts through a rigorous competitive process and our efforts to obtain future
contracts from the U.S. government may be unsuccessful.

The U.S. government conducts a rigorous competitive process for awarding most contracts. In the services arena, the
U.S. government uses multiple contracting approaches. Historically, omnibus contract vehicles have been used for
work that is done on a contingency or as-needed basis. In more predictable “sustainment” environments, contracts may
include both fixed-price and cost-reimbursable elements. The U.S. government has also favored multiple award task
order contracts in which several contractors are selected as eligible bidders for future work. Such processes require
successful contractors to continually anticipate customer requirements and develop rapid-response bid and proposal
teams as well as have supplier relationships and delivery systems in place to react to emerging needs. We will face
rigorous competition and pricing pressures for any additional contract awards from the U.S. government, and we may
be required to qualify or continue to qualify under the various multiple award task order contract criteria. It may be
more difficult for us to win future awards from the U.S. government and we may have other contractors sharing in any
U.S. government awards that we win. In addition, negative publicity regarding findings stemming from audits by the
Defense Contract Audit Agency (the "DCAA"), congressional investigations and litigation may adversely affect our
ability to obtain future awards. See "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Analysis - U.S. Government Matters."

Demand for our services provided under government contracts are directly affected by spending by our customers.
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We derive a portion of our revenues from contracts with agencies and departments of the U.K., Australia and U.S.
governments, which is directly affected by changes in government spending and availability of adequate funding.
Additionally, U.S. government regulations generally include the right for government agencies to modify, delay,
curtail, renegotiate or terminate contracts at their convenience any time prior to their completion. As a defense
contractor, our financial performance is affected by the allocation and prioritization of defense spending. Factors that
could affect current and future government spending include:

policy and/or spending changes implemented by the current administration, DoD or other government agencies;
changes, delays or cancellations of government programs or requirements;

adoption of new laws or regulations that affect companies providing services to the governments;

curtailment of the governments’ outsourcing of services to private contractors; or

{evel of political instability due to war, conflict or natural disasters.
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We face uncertainty with respect to our government contracts due to the fiscal and economic challenges facing our
customers, including sequestration and issues surrounding the U.S. national debt ceiling. Potential contract
cancellations, modifications or terminations may arise from resolution of these issues and could cause our revenues,
profits and cash flows to be lower than our current projections. The loss of work we perform for the governments or
decreases in governmental spending and outsourcing could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and cash flows.

Our U.S. government contract work is regularly reviewed and audited by our customer, U.S. government auditors and
others, and these reviews can lead to withholding or delay of payments to us, non-receipt of award fees, legal actions,
fines, penalties and liabilities and other remedies against us.

U.S. government contracts are subject to specific regulations such as the Federal Acquisition Regulation ("FAR"), the
Truth in Negotiations Act, the Cost Accounting Standards ("CAS"), the Service Contract Act and DoD security
regulations. Failure to comply with any of these regulations, requirements or statutes may result in contract price
adjustments, financial penalties or contract termination. Our U.S. government contracts are subject to audits, cost
reviews and investigations by U.S. government contracting oversight agencies such as the DCAA. The DCAA
reviews the adequacy of, and our compliance with, our internal control systems and policies, including our labor,
billing, accounting, purchasing, property, estimating, compensation and management information systems. The
DCAA has the authority to conduct audits and reviews to determine if KBR is complying with the requirements under
FAR and CAS, pertaining to the allocation, period assignment and allowability of costs assigned to U.S. government
contracts. The DCAA presents its report findings to the Defense Contract Management Agency ("DCMA"). Should
the DCMA determine that we have not complied with the terms of our contract and applicable statutes and
regulations, payments to us may be disallowed, which could result in adjustments to previously reported revenues and
refunding of previously collected cash proceeds. Additionally, we may be subject to qui tam litigation brought by
private individuals on behalf of the U.S. government under the Federal False Claims Act, which could include claims
for treble damages.

Given the demands of working for the U.S. government, we may have disagreements or experience performance
issues. When performance issues arise under any of our U.S. government contracts, the U.S. government retains the
right to pursue remedies, which could include termination under any affected contract. If any contract were so
terminated, our ability to secure future contracts could be adversely affected, although we would receive payment for
amounts owed for our allowable costs under cost-reimbursable contracts. Other remedies that could be sought by our
government customers for any improper activities or performance issues include sanctions such as forfeiture of
profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspensions or debarment from doing business with the government.
Further, the negative publicity that could arise from disagreements with our customers or sanctions as a result thereof
could have an adverse effect on our reputation in the industry, reduce our ability to compete for new contracts and
may also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Some of our U.S. government work requires KBR and certain of its employees to qualify for and retain a
government-issued security clearance.

A KBR subsidiary currently holds a U.S. government-issued facility security clearance and certain of its employees
have qualified for and hold U.S. government-issued personal security clearances. These clearances are necessary in
order to qualify for and ultimately perform certain of our U.S. government contracts. Should we no longer qualify for

such clearances, our ability to pursue and perform U.S. government contracts would be negatively impacted.

Risks Related to Governmental Regulations and Law
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We could be adversely impacted if we fail to comply with domestic and international export laws, which are the
subject of rigorous enforcement by the U.S. government.

To the extent that we export products, technical data and services outside of the United States, we are subject to laws
and regulations governing trade and exports, including, but not limited to, the International Traffic in Arms
Regulations, the Export Administration Regulations and trade sanctions against embargoed countries, which are
administered by the Office of Foreign Asset Control within the Department of the Treasury. A failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could result in civil and/or criminal sanctions, including the imposition of fines upon us as
well as the denial of export privileges and debarment from participation in U.S. government contracts. U.S.
government contract violations could result in the imposition of civil and criminal penalties or sanctions, contract
termination, forfeiture of profit and/or suspension of payment, any of which could make us lose our status as an
eligible U.S. government contractor and cause us to suffer serious harm to our reputation. Any suspension or
termination of our U.S. government contractor status could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.
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We are subject to anti-bribery laws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions, violations of which could include suspension or
debarment of our ability to contract with the U.S. state or local governments, U.S. government agencies or the U.K.
MoD, third-party claims, loss of customers, adverse financial impact, damage to reputation and adverse consequences
on financing for current or future projects.

The FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and
their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining
business. Our policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. We operate in many parts of the world that
have experienced governmental corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances; strict compliance with
anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. We train our staff concerning FCPA issues, and we
also inform our partners, subcontractors, agents and other third parties who work for us or on our behalf that they must
comply with the requirements of the FCPA and other anti-corruption laws. We also have procedures and controls in
place to monitor internal and external compliance. We cannot provide complete assurance that our internal controls
and procedures will always protect us from the reckless or criminal acts committed by our employees or third parties
working on our behalf. If we are found to be liable for violations of these laws (either due to our own acts or our
inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), we could suffer from criminal or civil penalties or other
sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws
and regulations, we may incur significant costs and penalties that could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our operations are subject to a variety of environmental, health and safety laws and regulations governing the
generation, management and use of regulated materials, the discharge of materials into the environment, the
remediation of environmental contamination associated with the release of hazardous substances and human health
and safety. Violations of these laws and regulations can cause significant delays and add significant cost to a project.

Various U.S. federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations may impose liability for property
damage and costs of investigation and cleanup of hazardous or toxic substances on property currently or previously
owned by us or arising out of our waste management or environmental remediation activities. These laws may impose
responsibility and liability without regard to knowledge or causation of the presence of contaminants. The liability
under these laws is joint and several. The ongoing costs of complying with existing environmental laws and
regulations could be substantial and have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

When we perform our services, our personnel and equipment may be exposed to radioactive and hazardous materials
and conditions. We may be subject to claims alleging personal injury, property damage or natural resource damages
by employees, customers and third parties as a result of alleged exposure to or contamination by hazardous
substances. In addition, we may be subject to fines, penalties or other liabilities arising under environmental safety
laws. A claim, if not covered by insurance at all or only partially, could have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Changes in the environmental laws and regulations, remediation obligations, enforcement actions, stricter
interpretations of existing requirements, future discovery of contamination or claims for damages to persons, property,

natural resources or the environment could result in material costs and liabilities that we currently do not anticipate.

Risks Related to Financial Conditions and Markets
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Current or future economic conditions in the credit markets may negatively affect the ability to operate our or our
customers’ businesses, finance working capital, implement our acquisition strategy and access our cash and short-term
investments.

We finance our business using cash provided by operations, but also depend on the availability of credit for growth.
Our ability to obtain capital or financing on satisfactory terms will depend in part upon prevailing market conditions
as well as our operating results. If adequate credit or funding is not available, or is not available on terms satisfactory
to us, there could be a material adverse effect on our business and financial performance.

Disruptions of the credit markets could also adversely affect our clients’ borrowing capacity, which supports the
continuation and expansion of projects worldwide, and could result in contract cancellations or suspensions, project
delays and payment delays or defaults by our clients. In addition, clients may choose to make fewer capital
expenditures or otherwise slow their spending on our services or to seek contract terms more favorable to them. Our
government clients may face budget deficits that prohibit them from funding proposed and existing projects or that
cause them to exercise their right to terminate our contracts with little
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or no prior notice. Furthermore, any financial difficulties suffered by our subcontractors or suppliers could increase
our cost or adversely impact project schedules. These disruptions could materially impact our backlog and financial
performance.

In addition, we are subject to the risk that the counterparties to our Credit Agreement may be unable to meet their
contractual obligations to us if they suffer catastrophic demands on their liquidity. We also routinely enter into
contracts with counterparties, including vendors, suppliers and subcontractors that may be negatively affected by
events in the credit markets. If those counterparties are unable to perform their obligations to us or our clients, we may
be required to provide additional services or make alternate arrangements on less favorable terms with other parties to
ensure adequate performance and delivery of service to our clients. These circumstances could also lead to disputes
and litigation with our partners or clients, which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, our cash balances and short-term investments are maintained in accounts held at major banks and
financial institutions located primarily in North America, the United Kingdom and Australia. Deposits are in amounts
that exceed available insurance. Although none of the financial institutions in which we hold our cash and investments
have gone into bankruptcy, been forced into receivership or have been seized by their governments, there is a risk that
this may occur in the future. If this were to occur, we would be at risk of not being able to access our cash and
investments which may result in a temporary liquidity crisis that could impede our ability to fund operations.

We may be unable to obtain new contract awards if we are unable to provide our customers with letters of credit,
surety bonds or other credit enhancements.

Customers may require us to provide credit enhancements, including letters of credit, bank guarantees or surety bonds.
We are often required to provide performance guarantees to customers to indemnify the customer should we fail to
perform our obligations under the contract. Failure to provide the required credit enhancements on terms required by a
customer may result in an inability to bid, win or comply with the contract. Historically, we have had adequate letters
of credit capacity but such capacity beyond our Credit Agreement is generally at the provider’s sole discretion. Due to
events that affect the banking and insurance markets generally, letters of credit and/or surety bonds may be difficult to
obtain or may only be available at significant cost. Moreover, many projects are often very large and complex, which
often necessitates the use of a joint venture, often with a market competitor, to bid on and perform the contract.
However, entering into joint ventures or partnerships exposes us to the credit and performance risk of third parties,
many of whom may not be financially strong. If our joint ventures or partners fail to perform, we could suffer negative
results. In addition, future projects may require us to obtain letters of credit that extend beyond the term of our current
Credit Agreement. Any inability to bid for or win new contracts due to the failure of obtaining adequate letters of
credit, surety bonding and/or other customary credit enhancements could have a material adverse effect on our
business prospects and future revenues.

Our Credit Agreement imposes restrictions that limit our operating flexibility and may result in additional expenses,
and this credit agreement may not be available if financial covenants are violated or if an event of default occurs.

Our Credit Agreement provides a credit line of $1 billion and expires in December 2016. It contains a number of
covenants restricting, among other things, our ability to incur liens and indebtedness, sell assets, repurchase our equity
shares and make certain types of investments. We are also subject to certain financial covenants, including
maintenance of a maximum ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDA and a minimum consolidated net
worth.

A breach of any covenant or our inability to comply with the required financial ratios could result in a default under
our Credit Agreement, and we can provide no assurance that we will be able to obtain the necessary waivers or
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amendments from our lenders to remedy a default. In the event of any default not cured or waived, the lenders are not
obligated to provide funding or issue letters of credit and could elect to require us to apply available cash to
collateralize any outstanding letters of credit and declare any outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest
and other fees, to be immediately due and payable, thus requiring us to apply available cash to repay any borrowings
then outstanding. If we are unable to cash collateralize our letters of credit or repay borrowings with respect to our
Credit Agreement when due, our lenders could proceed against the guarantees of our major domestic subsidiaries. If
any future indebtedness under our Credit Agreement is accelerated, we can provide no assurance that our assets would
be sufficient to repay such indebtedness in full.

Provisions in our charter documents, Delaware law and our Credit Agreement may inhibit a takeover or impact
operational control which could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as Delaware corporate law, contain provisions that could delay or
prevent a change of control or changes in our management that a stockholder might consider favorable. These
provisions include, among others, prohibiting stockholder action by written consent, advance notice for making
nominations at meetings of
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stockholders, providing for the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for lawsuits concerning certain corporate
matters and the issuance of preferred stock with rights that may be senior to those of our common stock without
stockholder approval. These provisions would apply even if a takeover offer may be considered beneficial by some of
our stockholders. If a change of control or change in management is delayed or prevented, the market price of our
common stock could decline. Additionally, our Credit Agreement contains a default provision that is triggered upon a
change in control of at least 25%.

We are subject to significant foreign exchange and currency risks that could adversely affect our operations and our
ability to reinvest earnings from operations. Our ability to mitigate our foreign exchange risk through hedging
transactions may be limited.

We generally attempt to denominate our contracts in U.S. Dollars or in the currencies of our costs. However, we do
enter into contracts that subject us to currency risk exposure, primarily when our contract revenues are denominated in
a currency different from the contract costs. A significant portion of our consolidated revenues and consolidated
operating expenses are in foreign currencies. As a result, we are subject to significant foreign currency risks, including
risks resulting from changes in currency exchange rates and limitations on our ability to reinvest earnings from
operations in one country to fund the financing requirements of our operations in other countries.

The governments of certain countries have or may in the future impose restrictive exchange controls on local
currencies and it may not be possible for us to engage in effective hedging transactions to mitigate the risks associated
with fluctuations of a particular currency. We are often required to pay all or a portion of our costs associated with a
project in the local currency. As a result, we generally attempt to negotiate contract terms with our customer, who is
often affiliated with the local government, or has a significant local presence, to provide that we are only paid in the
local currency for amounts that match our local expenses. If we are unable to match our local currency costs with
revenues in the local currency, we would be exposed to the risk of adverse changes in currency exchange rates.

If we need to sell or issue additional common shares to finance future acquisitions, our existing shareholder ownership
could be diluted.

Part of our business strategy is to expand into new markets and enhance our position in existing markets, both
domestically and internationally, which may include the acquiring and merging of complementary businesses. To
successfully fund and complete such potential acquisitions, we may issue additional equity securities that may result
in dilution of our existing shareholder ownership's earnings per share.

We make equity investments in privately financed projects in which we could sustain significant losses.

We participate in privately financed projects that enable governments and other customers to finance large-scale
projects, such as the acquisition and maintenance of major military equipment, capital projects and service purchases.
These projects typically include the facilitation of nonrecourse financing, the design and construction of facilities and
the provision of operation and maintenance services for an agreed-upon period after the facilities have been
completed. We may incur contractually reimbursable costs and typically make investments prior to an entity achieving
operational status or receiving project financing. If a project is unable to obtain financing, we could incur losses on
our investments and any related contractual receivables. After completion of these projects, the return on our
investments can be dependent on the operational success of the project and market factors which may not be under our
control. As a result, we could sustain a loss on our equity investment in these projects.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2.Properties

We own or lease properties in domestic and foreign locations. The following locations represent our major facilities.
Location Owned/Leased Description Business Segment

Greenford, United Kingdom Owned Office facilities Engineering & Construction

Engineering & Construction and
Government Services
Birmingham, Alabama Owned Office facilities Non-strategic Business

Leatherhead, United Kingdom  Owned Office facilities

North America:

Arlington, Virginia Leased Office facilities Government Services
Edmonton, Alberta, Canada Leased gﬁfllﬁtel easnd Project I(E)rtlfei:rrleering & Construction and
Houston, Texas Leased Office facilities All and Other

Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico Leased Office facilities Engineering & Construction
Newark, Delaware Leased Office facilities Engineering & Construction

Europe, Middle East and Africa:

Al Khobar, Saudi Arabia Leased Office facilities Engineering & Construction
Gothenburg, Sweden Leased Office facilities Technology & Consulting
Asia-Pacific:

Technology & Consulting and

Singapore Leased Office facilities Engineering & Construction

Sydney, Australia Leased Office facilities Engineering & Construction

Perth, Australia Leased Off:l(.ié‘: and project Engineering & Construction
facilities

Melbourne, Australia Leased Office facilities Engineering & Construction

We also own or lease numerous small facilities that include sales offices and project offices throughout the world and
lease office space in other buildings owned by unrelated parties. All of our owned properties are unencumbered and
we believe all properties that we currently occupy are suitable for their intended use.

Item 3.Legal Proceedings
Information relating to various commitments and contingencies is described in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and in Notes 14
and 15 to our consolidated financial statements, and the information discussed therein is incorporated by reference

into this Item 3.
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Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Ttem S Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
“Securities

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “KBR.” The following table sets forth,

on a per share basis for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share for our common stock as reported

by the New York Stock Exchange and dividends declared. In the fourth quarter of 2014, we declared a dividend of

$0.08 per share on October 2, 2014.

Common Stock Price Range Dividends
. Declared
High Low Per Share
Fiscal Year 2014
First quarter ended March 31, 2014 $34.77 $26.34 $0.08
Second quarter ended June 30, 2014 $28.29 $22.48 $0.08
Third quarter ended September 30, 2014 $24.44 $18.77 $0.08
Fourth quarter ended December 31, 2014 $20.48 $14.65 $0.08
Fiscal Year 2013
First quarter ended March 31, 2013 $32.65 $28.24 $—
Second quarter ended June 30, 2013 $36.69 $27.60 $0.08
Third quarter ended September 30, 2013 $34.01 $29.42 $0.08
Fourth quarter ended December 31, 2013 $36.70 $29.32 $0.08

At January 31, 2015, there were 110 shareholders of record. In calculating the number of shareholders, we consider
clearing agencies and security position listings as one shareholder for each agency or listing.

Share Repurchases

On February 25, 2014, our Board of Directors authorized a new $350 million share repurchase program, which
replaces and terminates the August 26, 2011 share repurchase program. The authorization does not specify an
expiration date for the share repurchase program.

We also have a share maintenance program to repurchase shares based on vesting and other activity under our equity
compensation plans. In a given fiscal year, we allocate repurchased shares first to our maintenance program and next
to our Board-authorized repurchase program. In the months in which we have not repurchased but have had to cover
vesting on our equity compensation plans we reduce previous repurchases under the Board-authorized repurchase
program.

Under our Credit Agreement, we are permitted to repurchase our common stock provided that no such repurchases
shall be made from the proceeds borrowed under the Credit Agreement and that the aggregate purchase price and
dividends paid after December 2, 2013 does not exceed the Distribution Cap. At December 31, 2014, the remaining
availability under the Distribution Cap was approximately $468 million. The declaration, payment or increase of any
future dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future
earnings, general financial condition and liquidity, success in business activities, capital requirements and general
business conditions. Since January 2007, we have repurchased $731 million of our outstanding common stock.

22

Table of Contents 54



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

The following is a summary of share repurchases of our common stock settled during the three months ended
December 31, 2014.
Total Number of

Shares Purchased Dollgr Value of
Total Number Average as Part of Maximum Number of
Purchase Period of Shares Price Paid Publicl Shares that May Yet Be
Purchased (1 per Share 3 y Purchased Under the
Announced Plan
Plan @
October 1 — 31,2014 — $— — $265,330,176
November 3 — 28, 2014 — $20.78 (2,880 ) $265,390,024
December 1 —31, 2014 230,400 $15.59 228,208 $261,832,261
Total 230,400 $15.52 225,328 $261,832,261

Does not include shares withheld for tax purpose or forfeitures under our equity plans. Shares are acquired from
employees in connection with the settlement of income tax and related benefit-withholding obligations arising from
the vesting of restricted stock units. For the three month period ended December 31, 2014, 507 shares were
acquired to cover employee transactions at an average price of $18.23.

Represents the number of shares applied to the share repurchase program authorized and announced on February
25, 2014 less shares allocated to our maintenance program. Repurchases applied to cover our share maintenance
plan for the three month period ended December 31, 2014, were 5,072 shares at an average price of $18.54 per
share.

We did not repurchase shares in October and November of 2014. The average price paid per share of $20.78
reflects the average price paid on the previous repurchases in August 2014.

ey

2)

3)
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Performance Graph

The chart below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on shares of our common stock for the five-year
period ended December 31, 2014, with the cumulative total return on the Dow Jones Heavy Construction Industry
Index and the Russell 1000 Index for the same period. The comparison assumes the investment of $100 on
December 31, 2009 and reinvestment of all dividends. The shareholder return is not necessarily indicative of future
performance.

12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/31/2013 12/31/2014

KBR $100.00 $161.70 $14890 $16095 $171.54 $91.18
Dow Jones Heavy Construction 100.00 127.89 105.04 126.90 165.86 122.89
Russell 1000 100.00 113.87 113.29 129.07 168.36 186.99
24

Table of Contents 56



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

Item 6.Selected Financial Data

The following table presents selected financial data for the last five years. You should read the following information
in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and the consolidated financial statements and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Dollars in millions, except per share amounts
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues $6,366 $7,214 $7,770 $9,103 $9,962
Gross profit (loss) (65 ) 417 518 640 689
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 163 137 151 158 137
Impairment of goodwill, asset impairments
and restructuring charges (a) (660 ) — (180 ) — S )
Operating income (loss) (794 ) 308 299 587 609
Income (loss) from continuing operations, net (1198 ) 171 200 540 395
of tax (b)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests (64 ) (96 ) (58 ) (60 ) (68 )
Net income (loss) attributable to KBR (1,262 ) 75 144 480 327
Basic net income (loss) attributable to KBR $(8.66 ) $0.50 $0.97 $3.18 $2.08
per share
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to KBR $(8.66 ) $0.50 $0.97 $3.16 $2.07
per share
Cash dividends declared per share (c) $0.32 $0.24 $0.28 $0.20 $0.15
Balance Sheet Data (as of the end of period):
Total assets $4,199 $5,438 $5,767 $5,666 $5,417
Long-term nonrecourse project-finance debt 63 78 84 88 92
Total shareholders’ equity $935 $2,439 $2,511 $2,442 $2,204
Other Financial Data (as of the end of period):
Backlog of unfulfilled orders $10,859 $14,118 $14,931 $10,931 $12,041

Included in 2014 is a goodwill impairment charge of $446 million related to three of our previous reporting units.

Included in 2012 is a goodwill impairment charge of $178 million related to one of our previous reporting units.
(a)Included in 2014, 2012 and 2010 are impairment of long-lived asset charges of $171 million, $2 million and $5

million, respectively, primarily related to equipment, land and buildings. Also included in 2014 are restructuring

charges of $43 million.

Included in 2014 is a $421 million of tax expense primarily related to valuation allowance on U.S. federal, foreign
(b)and state net operating loss carryforwards, foreign tax credit carryforwards, other deferred tax assets and foreign

tax expense.

In 2012, we declared five dividends totaling $0.28 per share. In each quarter during 2012, we declared a dividend
(c)of $0.05 per share. In the fourth quarter of 2012, we declared an additional dividend of $0.08 per share on

December 18, 2012. Consequently, in 2013 we declared only three dividends totaling 0.24 per share.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Introduction

Management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with Part I of this Form 10-K as well as
the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Executive Overview
Business Reorganization

Following the June 2014 appointment of Mr. Stuart Bradie as CEO, we announced plans to undertake a global

strategic review of our business. The outcome of this review was a reorganization of our business into three new
segments, T&C, E&C and GS to focus on core strengths in global hydrocarbons and international government

services. Our corporate expenses and other operations that do not individually meet the criteria for group presentation
continue to be reported in our Other business segment, while operations we intend to sell or exit upon completion of
our existing contracts are presented separately in the Non-strategic Business segment. Each business segment

excluding “Other” reflects a reportable segment led by a separate business segment president who reports directly to our
chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). See "Item 1. Business" for a description of the new business segments. We
have revised our business segment reporting to reflect our current management approach and recast prior periods to
conform to the current business segment presentation.

Business Environment

Demand for our services depends primarily on the level of capital expenditure in our market sectors, which is driven
generally by global and regional economic growth (primarily GDP growth) and more specifically by the demand for
energy and derivative products and government services. While the recent decline in oil prices may have a near term
adverse impact on our business, we see long-term growth in energy projects such as low cost production, shallow
water, onshore production, subsea tiebacks and brownfields revamping. Low energy prices reflected in the current oil
price provide opportunities in brownfield LNG and new petrochemicals, chemicals and fertilizer markets. We believe
KBR has a balanced portfolio of upstream, midstream and downstream and recurring revenues in outsourced
government services, which provides us with less exposure to the oil price declines than some of our peers.

We expect LNG demand to grow annually mainly in Asia and demand in Europe to rebound. We expect global
capacity coming online in the next 15 years to translate to the letting of two LNG plants per year, which is consistent
with the last five years. Growth regions include U.S. Gulf Coast and the Asia-Pacific region; Canada, due to new tax
rules; and East Africa, due to successful appraisals.

Overview of Financial Results

2014 was a transitional year for KBR with the arrival of a new CEO and the launch of a major strategic business
review. This review was completed in December 2014 and we intend to focus future efforts on the global
hydrocarbons and international government services markets. As a result of this decision, we decided to divest or exit
the following businesses upon completion of existing projects:

¥ixed priced EPC power projects

¥ixed priced U.S. infrastructure and mining business

Building Group

¥ixed price construction-only projects

Table of Contents 58



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

The 2014 financial results include significant restructuring charges, impairments of goodwill and other assets, and tax

valuation allowances from the strategic review that total approximately $1.1 billion. Our results for the year ended
December 31, 2014 were also impacted by the following:

Reduced revenues and gross profit due to lower activity or the completion of several mega LNG and GTL projects
Reduced gross profit due to increases in estimates of costs to complete certain projects, including recognition of
additional losses on our Canadian pipe fabrication and module assembly projects.
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Our financial results continue to be driven by our E&C business segment, which is where we execute large EPC
projects. This segment generated revenues of $4.6 billion and gross profit of $141 million during 2014. While we
continue to successfully execute close-out activities on some of our major LNG/GTL projects, our E&C business
segment remains focused on actively pursuing new prospects in the LNG/GTL markets and in the petrochemical
markets. We do not expect the next major LNG EPC award until early 2016 and beyond. During 2014, our E&C
business segment also experienced an increase in EPC activity on refining, petrochemical and chemicals projects
driven in large part by the abundant supply and low natural gas prices in North America. Although we incurred losses
during the first two quarters of 2014 on our Canadian pipe fabrication and module assembly projects, the losses were
less than 2013 and five of the seven projects are now complete. During the fourth quarter we generated modest profit
from claims recovery on several of these completed projects. One of the Canadian pipe fabrication and module
assembly contracts that is in a loss position is a master services-type agreement that provides our client with the right,
but not the obligation, to place new pipe fabrication and module assembly orders until 2017. During 2014, we did not
execute any new orders under this agreement.

Our GS business continues to be impacted by declines in our government logistics and support business, the
slow-down in government investments and by ongoing close-out costs associated with litigation and commercial
disputes on legacy U.S. government contracts that supported the U.S. military in Iraq (LogCAP III and RIO projects).

Our results were also impacted by a decline in building projects and increased costs to complete our power projects,
which resulted in the recognition of loss on two projects, all of which are reported within our Non-strategic Business
segment.

Our backlog of unfilled orders declined in 2014 as we completed two mega EPC (i.e. LNG and GTL) projects and
continue to execute two additional mega LNG projects.

Revenues

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %
Revenues $6,366 $7.214 $(848 ) (12 Y% $7,770  $(556 ) (7 )%

Consolidated revenues decreased in 2014 compared to 2013. This decrease was primarily driven by reduced volumes
within our E&C business segment resulting from the completion or near completion of EPC projects in our LNG/GTL
markets, partially offset by new awards of refining, petrochemicals and chemicals projects. Lower overall volumes
associated with our GS business segment's support and logistics activities in Iraq and Afghanistan for the U.S. and
U.K. governments, respectively, also contributed to the decline. Additionally, the reduction in revenues was due to
completion of several building projects within our Non-strategic Business segment.

Consolidated revenues decreased in 2013 compared to 2012. This decline was primarily driven by the reduced volume
as we entered the early completion phases of the EPC projects previously noted, partially offset by activities on large
new awards within our E&C business segment. The decrease was also attributable to reduced volumes driven by base
closures and headcount reductions under the contract supporting the U.S. Military and the U.S. Department of State in
Iraq. There was also a reduction of commercial support and other services for the U.K. MoD in Afghanistan and other
locations. These declines were partially offset by activities on new projects within our Non-strategic Business
segment.
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Gross Profit (Loss)

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %
Gross profit (loss) $65 ) $417 $(482 ) (116 )% $518 $(101 ) 19 Y%

Consolidated gross profit decreased in 2014 compared to 2013. This decrease was primarily attributable to an increase
in estimated costs to complete projects within our Non-strategic Business segment and reduced volumes resulting
from completion of our GS contracts discussed above. Within our E&C business segment, reduced volume as we
reached peak activity in 2013 on certain EPC projects, higher estimated costs to complete certain projects and the
positive impact of a fee negotiation in 2013, which did not recur in 2014, contributed to the reduction in gross profit.
The impact of these decreases was partially offset by the reduction in losses on our Canadian pipe fabrication and
module assembly projects in 2014 compared to 2013.

Consolidated gross profit decreased in 2013 compared to 2012. This decline was driven by reduced activity on the
EPC projects, cost savings realized in 2012, which did not recur in 2013, the impact of a foreign currency adjustment
on an EPC project as well as increased estimated costs to complete certain Canadian pipe fabrication and module
assembly projects all within our E&C business segment. This decrease was partially offset by activity on new awards
within our Non-strategic Business segment.

Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates
2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %

quu.ty in earnings of unconsolidated $163 $137 $26 19 % $151 $(14 ) (9 Y%
affiliates

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates increased in 2014 compared to 2013. This change was primarily due to
increased activity and progress on an LNG project joint venture within our E&C business segment and by an
insurance recovery and reduced costs on a joint venture project in our GS business segment, offset by a reduction in
volume as we near completion of construction activities on this project.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates decreased in 2013 compared to 2012. This change was primarily due to
extended dry docking and lower utilization of marine vessels in our MMM joint venture, interruptions in natural gas
feedstock in our ammonia plant joint venture in Egypt, partially offset by increased activity and progress on an LNG
project joint venture within our E&C business segment. The decline was also due to reduced construction activity on
the GS joint venture discussed above.

General and Administrative Expenses

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %
General and administrative expenses $(239 ) $248 ) $09 ) 4 Y% $(222 ) $26 12 %

General and administrative expenses decreased in 2014 compared to 2013. The decrease was primarily due to lower
information technology support costs and reduced overhead costs resulting from headcount reductions and cost
savings initiatives implemented at the end of 2013 and during 2014. Our general and administrative expenses for 2014
and 2013 included $35 million each related to our ERP project. Amortization on the completed phase of the project
was $15 million and $7 million for 2014 and 2013, respectively. General and administrative expenses in 2014
included $174 million related to corporate and $66 million related to the business segments.
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General and administrative expenses increased in 2013 compared to 2012. The increase was primarily due to higher
ERP project expenses, consulting and legal expenses related to tax items, including arbitration with our former parent
and changes in our risk and benefit programs. These increases were partially offset by lower incentive compensation
costs in 2013. Our general and administrative expenses for 2013 and 2012 included $35 million and $20 million,
respectively, related to our ERP project. Amortization on the completed phase of the project was $7 million and less
than $1 million for 2013 and 2012, respectively. General and administrative expenses in 2013 included $179 million
related to corporate and $72 million related to the business segments.
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Impairment and Restructuring Charges

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %
Impairment of goodwill $(446 ) $— $446 100 % $(178 ) $(178 ) (100 )%
Asset impairment and restructuring $(214 ) $— $214 100 % $(2 ) $Q2 ) (100 )%

charges

As a result of our December 11, 2014 strategic reorganization announcement, including our decisions to exit certain
businesses, and continued business decline in certain markets, we recognized an impairment charge of $446 million
related to the remaining goodwill on our Roberts and Schaefer (R&S) acquisition and the goodwill on our BE&K
acquisition. We also recognized a $31 million impairment of R&S intangible assets.

On December 11, 2014, we also announced that we were discontinuing the implementation of our ERP project. This
resulted in a $135 million impairment charge for the portion of the ERP project we do not expect will provide us any
future benefits.

As part of our reorganization of our business and associated restructuring, we have started the process of reducing
headcount and and recognized a severance charge of $29 million. Additionally, we terminated leases in several
locations, resulting in lease termination charges of $14 million. We also recognized a $5 million impairment charge
related to leasehold improvements on the terminated leases and other property.

See Note 8 and 9 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion on our goodwill and asset impairment
and restructuring charges.

In the third quarter of 2012 in connection with our interim impairment review, we recognized a noncash goodwill
impairment charge of $178 million related to one of our previous reporting units (see Note 8 to our consolidated

financial statements for further discussion).

Non-operating Income (Expenses)

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %
Non-operating income (expenses) $17 $(8 ) $25 313 % $(11 ) $@3 ) (27 )%

We had non-operating income in 2014 compared to non-operating expense in 2013. The change was primarily
attributable to a $24 million gain related to a negotiated dispute settlement with our former parent.

Non-operating expenses decreased in 2013 compared to 2012. This decrease was primarily attributable to a reduction
in interest expense due to higher interest income on our treasury-managed time deposits.

Provision for Income Taxes

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %
gigsme (loss) before provision for income $(777 ) $300 $(1.077) n/m $288 $12 4 %
Provision for income taxes $421 ) $(129 ) $292 n/m $(86 ) $43 50 %

n/m - not meaningful
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Provision for income taxes increased in 2014 compared to 2013. We recognized income tax expense of $421 million
in 2014 on our loss before provision for income taxes instead of recognizing a tax benefit primarily as a result of the
nondeductible goodwill impairment loss, an increase in our valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and
recognition of taxes on undistributed earnings.

Provision for income taxes increased in 2013 compared to 2012 . Income tax expense in 2013 increased primarily as a
result of an increase of $47 million in valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2013 as a result of losses
recognized in our Canada pipe fabrication and module assembly business and certain state net operating losses.

A reconciliation of our effective tax rates for 2014, 2013 and 2012 to the U.S. statutory federal rate is presented in
Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $ % 2012 $ %

ifé r1ensctcs)me attributable to noncontrolling S64 ) $O96 ) $G2 ) (33 % $68 ) $38 6 o

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased in 2014 compared to 2013. This decrease is primarily
due to earnings from the renegotiation of fees and cost recoveries on a joint venture project which were recognized in
our E&C business segment in 2013 but did not recur in 2014.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests increased in 2013 compared to 2012. This increase is primarily due

to the renegotiation of fees and cost recoveries on a joint venture project that were recognized in our E&C business
segment.

30

Table of Contents 65



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

Results of Operations by Business Segment

We analyze the financial results for each of our five business segments. The business segments presented are
consistent with our reportable segments discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements.

2014 vs. 2013

Years Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013 $
Revenues
Technology & Consulting $353 $330 $23
Engineering & Construction 4,584 4,956 (372
Government Services 638 931 (293

Other — — —
Subtotal $5,575  $6,217  $(642
Non-strategic Business 791 997 (206
Total $6,366 $7,214  $(848
Gross profit
Technology & Consulting $53 $69 $(16
Engineering & Construction 141 263 (122
Government Services (32 ) 90 (122
Other — — —
Subtotal $162 $422 $(260
Non-strategic Business 227 ) (5 (222
Total $65 ) $417 $(482
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates
Technology & Consulting $— $— $—
Engineering & Construction 90 76 14
Government Services 73 61 12
Other — — —
Subtotal $163 $137 $26
Non-strategic Business — — —
Total $163 $137 $26
Total general and administrative expense $(239 ) $(248 $09
Impairment of goodwill $(446 ) $— $446
Asset impairment and restructuring $Q214 ) $— $214
charges
Gain on disposition of assets $7 $2 $5
Total operating income $(794 ) $308

n/m - not meaningful
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Technology & Consulting

T&C revenues increased by $23 million, or 7%, to $353 million in 2014 compared to $330 million in 2013 driven
largely by an increase in proprietary equipment supply on several ammonia plants and an increase in the number of
consulting projects. This improvement was partially offset by a reduction in volume attributable to delays in project
awards and a decline in BED activities on several projects.

T&C gross profit decreased by $16 million, or 23%, to $53 million in 2014 compared to $69 million in 2013 due
primarily to the project delays and decline in BED activities discussed above, offset by the impact to gross profit of
the increased revenues from proprietary equipment supply and consulting projects.

T&C revenues increased by $34 million, or 11%, to $330 million in 2013 compared to $296 million in 2012 primarily
due to an increase in the delivery of PEQ and license and basic engineering design ("LBED") on several ammonia
projects offset by slight decreases in consulting activities resulting from low volume of new awards in our Australia
market.

T&C gross profit decreased by $11 million, or 14%, to $69 million in 2013 compared to $80 million in 2012 due to a
decline in licensing activities and increased proposal costs in 2013.

Engineering & Construction

E&C revenue decreased by $372 million, or 8%, to $4.6 billion in 2014 compared to $5.0 billion in 2013. This
decrease was primarily due to lower activity on EPC projects in our LNG/GTL markets, as they neared completion in
2014, and reduced construction projects in the U.S. market. These decreases were partially offset by increased activity
on EPC contracts for downstream projects in North America, increased activity on several Canadian pipe fabrication
and module assembly and construction projects, increased activity on an upstream project in Azerbaijan and an
increase in KBR services on an LNG project joint venture in Australia.

E&C gross profit decreased by $122 million, or 46%, to $141 million in 2014 compared to $263 million in 2013 due
to higher activity and incentive fees on an LNG project in Australia in 2013 that did not recur in 2014 and a reduction
in gross profit resulting from an increase in estimated costs to complete certain projects. These decreases were
partially offset by reduced losses of $60 million on our Canadian pipe fabrication and module assembly projects,
start-up work on an ammonia plant in North America and $45 million in charges taken on LNG projects in 2013 that
did not recur in 2014.

E&C equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates increased by $14 million, or 18%, to $90 million in 2014
compared to $76 million in 2013 due primarily to increased progress on an LNG project in Australia. This increase
was partially offset by reduced earnings on the MMM joint venture in Mexico, because the vessels were out of
contract for a significant portion of 2014.

E&C revenue decreased by $660 million, or 12%, to $5.0 billion in 2013 compared to $5.6 billion in 2012 as a result
of reduced volume on a GTL project in Nigeria and an LNG project in Algeria as these projects were completed or
neared completion. This decrease was partially offset by revenue recorded in the third quarter of 2013 resulting from a
change order on an LNG project in Australia, increased activity on EPC contracts for chemicals projects in North
America and scope growth on a base oil project in North America.

E&C gross profit decreased by $187 million, or 42%, to $263 million in 2013 compared to $450 million in 2012 as a
result of reduced activity on an LNG project in Algeria as it neared completion in 2013, $97 million in losses on
Canadian pipe fabrication and module assembly projects and increased overheads. These decreases were partially
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offset by increased activity on an LNG project in Australia and losses on several U.S. construction projects in 2012
that did not reoccur in 2013.

E&C equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates decreased by $3 million, or 4%, to $76 million in 2013 compared
to $79 million in 2012 due to extended dry dock and out of contract periods for vessels in our MMM joint venture.
This decline is also due to reduced earnings on our ammonia plant joint venture in Egypt, arising from lower ammonia
production brought about by curtailments in the supply of natural gas feedstock and is partially offset by earnings
from increased activities and overall project growth on an LNG project joint venture in Australia.
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Government Services

GS revenues decreased by $293 million, or 31% to $638 million in 2014 compared to $931 million in 2013. This
decline was driven primarily by a $246 million reduction in revenues following the March 31, 2014 completion of
activities supporting the U.S. military and U.S. Department of State for the war in Iraq and a $45 million decrease
from reduction in troop numbers on U.K. MoD and NATO contracts in Afghanistan. Settlement of outstanding items
on LogCAP III and adjustments to reserves for questioned costs on the RIO contract (GS Legacy Contracts), resulted
in a $94 million reduction in revenues. These decreases were partially offset by new awards of U.S. government
construction and base support contracts in Europe and Africa as well as the award of a long term contract with the
U.K. Metropolitan Police.

GS gross profit decreased by $122 million, or 136% to a loss of $32 million in 2014 compared to gross profit of $90
million in 2013. This decline was primarily driven by the completion of the U.S. military and U.S. Department of
State support contract as well as the U.K. MoD support activities discussed above. The settlement and reserves for
questioned costs on the GS Legacy Contracts discussed above also reduced gross profit by $66 million. Additionally,
the reduction in gross profit was attributable to an increase in our estimate of costs to complete the roads project in
Qatar and a construction management contract with the U.S. government in Europe.

GS equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates increased by $12 million, or 20% to $73 million in 2014 compared
to $61 million in 2013. This increase was primarily due to an insurance recovery and reduced costs on a joint venture
for a U.K. MoD project, offset by a reduction in volume as we near completion of construction activities on this joint
venture project.

GS revenue decreased by $174 million, or 16% to $931 million in 2013 compared to $1.1 billion in 2012. The
decrease was driven by base closures and headcount reductions under the contract supporting the U.S. Military and the
U.S. Department of State in Iraq as well as reduced activity on contracts for the U.K. MoD including completion of a
portion of a support services contract in Afghanistan. As the U.S. government continued its withdrawal from Iraq, the
volume of support services also continued to decline. There was also reduced activity related to commercial support
services in Africa, reduced activity on a major contract for the U.K. MoD, and completion of a portion of U.K. MoD
contracts in Afghanistan. Our offerings in the Asia-Pacific region were affected by the continuing slow market
conditions and also from reduced government and private sector investments.

GS gross profit increased by $7 million, or 8% to $90 million in 2013 compared to $83 million in 2012. This increase
was due to project charges of $28 million related to the unfavorable U.S. government ruling associated with dining
facility services in Iraq in 2012 that did not recur. Gross profit in 2013 includes the reversal of $25 million of reserves
due to the progress of audits, offset by declines due to reduced activity in the Middle East under the contract
supporting the U.S. Military and the U.S. Department of State in Iraq.

GS equity in earnings in unconsolidated affiliates decreased by $6 million, or 9% to $61 million in 2013 compared to
$67 million in 2012. This decrease was due to the existing U.K. MoD construction project slowly nearing completion.

Non-strategic Business
Non-strategic Business revenue decreased by $206 million, or 21%, to $791 million in 2014 compared to $1 billion in
2013. This was largely due to the completion or near completion of several building construction projects. The decline

was partially offset by higher revenues from increased activity on two power projects.

Non-strategic Business gross loss increased by $222 million to $227 million in 2014 compared to $5 million in 2013.
This increase in gross loss was primarily due to a $173 million impact from an increase in the estimate of costs to
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complete three power projects, resulting in losses or reduced margins on these projects, a settlement on a minerals
project and increased legal reserves on an infrastructure project.

Non-strategic Business revenue increased by $244 million, or 32%, to $1 billion in 2013 compared to $753 million in
2012. This was primarily due to increased activity on several building and power projects. These increases were
partially offset by minerals projects completed in 2013.

Non-strategic Business gross loss decreased by $90 million, or 95%, $5 million in 2013 compared to $95 million in

2012. This decrease was primarily due to losses incurred on minerals projects in 2012 that did not recur in 2013. In
addition, several new projects were added in the building, minerals and power sectors during 2013.
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Changes in Estimates

Information relating to our changes in estimates is discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements and the
information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

Acquisitions and Other Transactions

Information relating to various acquisitions and other transactions is described in "Item 1. Business" and the
information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

Backlog of Unfilled Orders

Backlog generally represents the dollar amount of revenues we expect to realize in the future as a result of performing
work on contracts and our pro-rata share of work to be performed by unconsolidated joint ventures. We generally
include total expected revenues in backlog when a contract is awarded under a legally binding commitment. In many
instances, arrangements included in backlog are complex, nonrepetitive in nature and may fluctuate depending on
estimated revenues and contract duration. Where contract duration is indefinite, projects included in backlog are
limited to the estimated amount of expected revenues within the following twelve months. Certain contracts provide
maximum dollar limits, with actual authorization to perform work under the contract agreed upon on a periodic basis
with the customer. In these arrangements, only the amounts authorized are included in backlog. For projects where we
act solely in a project management capacity, we only include the value of our services of each project in backlog. For
certain long-term service contracts with a defined contract term, such as those associated with privately financed
projects, the amount included in backlog is limited to five years.

We have included in the table below our proportionate share of unconsolidated joint ventures' estimated revenues.
However, because these projects are accounted for under the equity method, only our share of future earnings from
these projects will be recorded in our results of operations. Our backlog for projects related to unconsolidated joint
ventures totaled $4.3 billion at December 31, 2014 and $5.5 billion at December 31, 2013. We consolidate joint
ventures which are majority-owned and controlled or are variable interest entities in which we are the primary
beneficiary. Our backlog included in the table below for projects related to consolidated joint ventures with
noncontrolling interests includes 100% of the backlog associated with those joint ventures and totaled $928 million at
December 31, 2014 and $1.5 billion at December 31, 2013. All backlog is attributable to firm orders as of

December 31, 2014 and 2013. Backlog attributable to unfunded government orders was $36 million at December 31,
2014 and $166 million at December 31, 2013. The following table summarizes our backlog by business segment.

December 31, Changes in December 31,
scope on
Dollars in millions 2013 New Awards  existing 1(\5:;'[ Workoff 2014
contracts (a)
Technology & Consulting $458 $182 $130 $(370 ) $400
Engineering & Construction 10,712 1,571 239 (4,734 ) 7,788
Government Services 2,175 216 83 (711 ) 1,763
Subtotal 13,345 1,969 452 (5,815 ) 9,951
Non-strategic Business 773 803 46 (714 ) 908
Total backlog $14,118 $2,772 $498 $(6,529 ) $10,859
@ In addition to changes in scope, these amounts reflect the elimination of our proportionate share of non-partner

costs related to our unconsolidated joint ventures.
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(b)These amounts include the net workoff of our projects as well as our proportionate share of the net workoff of our
unconsolidated joint ventures projects.

We estimate that as of December 31, 2014, 51% of our backlog will be executed within one year. As of December 31,

2014, 40% of our backlog was attributable to fixed-price contracts and 60% of our backlog was attributable to

cost-reimbursable contracts. For contracts that contain both fixed-price and cost-reimbursable components, we

classify the components as either fixed-price or cost-reimbursable according to the composition of the contract;

however, except for smaller contracts, we characterize the entire contract based on the predominant component.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and equivalents totaled $970 million at December 31, 2014 and $1.1 billion December 31, 2013 and consisted of
the following:

December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Domestic U.S. cash $200 $355
International cash 690 675
Joint venture cash 80 76
Total $970 $1,106

Domestic cash relates to cash balances held by U.S. entities and is largely used to support obligations of those
businesses as well as general corporate needs such as the payment of dividends to shareholders and potential
repurchases of our outstanding common stock.

The international cash balances may be available for general corporate purposes but are subject to local restrictions

such as capital adequacy requirements and local obligations such as maintaining sufficient cash balances to support
our underfunded U.K. pension plan and other obligations incurred in the normal course of business by those foreign
entities. Repatriated foreign cash may become subject to U.S. income taxes.

Joint venture cash balances reflect the amounts held by joint venture entities that we consolidate for financial
reporting purposes. Such amounts are limited to joint venture activities and are not readily available for general
corporate purposes but portions of such amounts may become available to us in the future should there be distribution
of dividends to the joint venture partners. We expect that the majority of the joint venture cash balances will be
utilized for the corresponding joint venture projects.

Cash generated from operations is our primary source of operating liquidity. Our cash balances are held in numerous
locations throughout the world. We believe that existing cash balances and internally generated cash flows are
sufficient to support our day-to-day domestic and foreign business operations for at least the next 12 months.

In December 2014, we implemented a foreign cash repatriation strategy for which we have provided cumulative
income taxes of $98 million on certain foreign earnings which provide us, if necessary, the ability to repatriate
approximately an additional $370 million of international cash without recognizing additional tax expense. In
determining our foreign cash repatriation strategy and in determining whether earnings would continue to be
considered permanently invested, we considered our future U.S. and non-U.S. cash needs such as 1) our anticipated
foreign working capital requirements, including funding of our U.K. pension plan; 2) the expected growth
opportunities across all geographical markets; and 3) our plans to invest in strategic growth opportunities that may
include acquisitions around the world. The remaining international cash balances associated with past foreign earnings
which we currently intend to permanently reinvest in our foreign entities are not available for domestic use. The
company has not recognized an estimated deferred tax liability of approximately $320 million for undistributed
earnings it continues to consider to be permanently reinvested in the foreseeable future. These undistributed earnings
could be subject to additional tax if remitted, or deemed remitted, as a dividend.

Our operating cash flow can vary significantly from year to year and is affected by the mix, terms and percentage of
completion of our engineering and construction projects. We sometimes receive cash through billings to our
customers on our larger engineering and construction projects and those of our consolidated joint ventures in advance
of incurring the related costs. In other projects our net investment in the project costs may be greater than available
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project cash and we may utilize other cash on hand or availability under our Credit Agreement to satisfy any periodic
operating cash requirements.

Engineering and construction projects generally require us to provide credit support to our customers in the form of
letters of credit, surety bonds or guarantees. Our ability to obtain new project awards in the future may be dependent
on our ability to maintain or increase our letter of credit and surety bonding capacity, which may be further dependent
on the timely release of existing letters of credit and surety bonds. As the need for credit support arises, letters of
credit will be issued under our Credit Agreement or arranged with our banks on a bilateral, syndicated or other basis.
We believe we have adequate letter of credit capacity under our existing Credit Agreement and bilateral lines, as well
as adequate surety bond capacity under our existing lines to support our operations and current backlog for the next
twelve months.
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As of December 31, 2014, substantially all of our excess cash was held in commercial bank time deposits with the
primary objectives of preserving capital and maintaining liquidity.

Cash flows activities summary
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012

Cash flows provided by operating activities $170 $297 $142

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities (44 ) (62 ) 52

Cash flows used in financing activities (210 ) (148 ) (116 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (52 ) (34 ) 9

Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents $(136 ) $53 $87

Operating activities. Cash provided by operations totaled $170 million in 2014 and was primarily attributable to
distributions of earnings received from unconsolidated affiliates of $249 million and fluctuations in our working
capital accounts. This increase was partially offset by contributions of approximately $48 million to our pension
funds.

Cash provided by operations totaled $297 million in 2013 and resulted from our earnings, working capital and
distributions of earnings received from unconsolidated affiliates of $180 million, partially offset by our payment of
$108 million in outstanding performance bonds to PEMEX Exploration and Production ("PEP"), other uses driven by
taxes and contributions of approximately $54 million to our pension funds. See Note 15 to our consolidated financial
statements for further discussion of the performance bonds.

Cash provided by operations totaled $142 million in 2012 and resulted from our earnings, adjusted for items to
reconcile to net income, of $317 million, distributions of earnings received from unconsolidated affiliates, including
repayment of advances to unconsolidated affiliates, of $102 million and subcontractor advances of $131 million.
These increases were partially offset by working capital uses related to the E&C business segment and our business
with the U.S. government in our Government Services business segment.

Investing activities. Cash used in investing activities totaled $44 million in 2014, which was primarily due to
purchases of property, plant and equipment associated with information technology projects which have now largely
been stopped.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $62 million in 2013 which was primarily due to purchases of property, plant
and equipment associated with information technology projects.

Cash provided by investing activities totaled $52 million in 2012 which was primarily due to proceeds of $127 million
from the sale of our interest in the 601 Jefferson building and the Clinton Drive campus facility. These proceeds were
offset by capital expenditures of $75 million associated with information technology projects and leasehold and
facility improvements.

Financing activities. Cash used in financing activities totaled $210 million in 2014 and included $106 million for the
purchase of treasury stock, $47 million for dividend payments to common shareholders, $61 million for distributions
to noncontrolling interests and $11 million for principal payments on short- and long-term borrowings consisting
primarily of nonrecourse debt of our Fasttrax variable interest entity ("VIE"). The uses of cash were partially offset by
$10 million of investments from noncontrolling interests and $4 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock
options.
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Cash used in financing activities totaled $148 million in 2013 and included $7 million for the purchase of treasury
stock, $36 million for dividend payments to common shareholders, $109 million for distributions to noncontrolling
interests and $14 million for principal payments on short- and long-term borrowings consisting primarily of
nonrecourse debt of our Fasttrax VIE and computer software purchases financed in 2010. The uses of cash were
partially offset by $9 million of investments from noncontrolling interests and $6 million of proceeds from the
exercise of stock options.

Cash used in financing activities totaled $116 million in 2012 and included $40 million for the purchase of treasury
stock, $37 million for dividend payments to common shareholders, $36 million for distributions to noncontrolling
interests and $14 million for principal payments on short- and long-term borrowings consisting primarily of
nonrecourse debt of our Fasttrax VIE
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and computer software purchases financed in 2010. The uses of cash were partially offset by $11 million of tax
benefits associated with stock exercises and proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Future sources of cash. Future sources of cash include cash flows from operations, including cash advances from our
clients, cash derived from working capital management and cash borrowings under our Credit Agreement as well as
potential litigation proceeds.

Future uses of cash. Future uses of cash will primarily relate to working capital requirements, including payments to

our former parent as a result of a settlement, capital expenditures, dividends, share repurchases and strategic
investments. In addition, we will use cash to fund pension obligations, payments under operating leases and various
other obligations, including potential litigation payments, as they arise. Our capital expenditures will be focused
primarily on information technology, real estate, facilities and equipment. See “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” below
for a schedule of contractual obligations and other long-term liabilities that will require the use of cash.

Other factors potentially affecting liquidity

Canada project losses. Our reserve for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts included in "other current liabilities"
on our consolidated balance sheets consists of $53 million related to our Canadian pipe fabrication and module
assembly projects at December 31, 2014. These accrued losses will result in future cash expenditures in excess of
customer receipts. Based on current contracts and work authorizations, we anticipate completion of these projects in
2015.

Power project losses. Our reserve for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts included in "other current liabilities"
on our consolidated balance sheets consists of $80 million related to two power projects at December 31, 2014. These
accrued losses will result in future cash expenditures in excess of customer receipts. Based on current contracts and
work authorizations, we anticipate completion of these projects in 2017.

Credit Agreement

On December 2, 2011, we entered into a $1 billion, five-year unsecured revolving credit agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) with a syndicate of international banks. The Credit Agreement is available for cash borrowings and the
issuance of letters of credit related to general corporate needs. The Credit Agreement expires in December 2016;
however, given that projects generally require letters of credit that extend beyond one year in length, we will likely
need to enter into a new or amended credit agreement no later than 2015. Amounts drawn under the Credit Agreement
bear interest at variable rates, per annum, based either on (1) the London interbank offered rate (“LIBOR”) plus an
applicable margin of 1.50% to 1.75%, or (2) a base rate plus an applicable margin of 0.50% to 0.75%, with the base
rate equal to the highest of (a) reference bank’s publicly announced base rate, (b) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%, or
(c) LIBOR plus 1%. The amount of the applicable margin to be applied will be determined by our ratio of
consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDA for the prior four fiscal quarters, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The
Credit Agreement provides for fees on letters of credit issued under the Credit Agreement at a rate equal to the
applicable margin for LIBOR-based loans, except for performance letters of credit, which are priced at 50% of such
applicable margin. We pay an issuance fee of 0.15% of the face amount of a letter of credit. We also pay a
commitment fee of 0.25% per annum on any unused portion of the commitment under the Credit Agreement. As of
December 31, 2014, there were $174 million in letters of credit and no cash borrowings outstanding.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants which include financial covenants requiring maintenance of a
ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated EBITDA not greater than 3.5 to 1 and a minimum consolidated net worth, as
defined in the Credit Agreement as amended. In anticipation of our reorganization and the expected impairment and
restructuring charges, in December 2014 we obtained an amendment to the Credit Agreement which reset the
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minimum consolidated net worth to $1.5 billion plus 50% of consolidated net income for each quarter beginning
December 31, 2014 and 100% of any increase in shareholders’ equity attributable to the sale of equity interests. At
December 31, 2014, we were in compliance with our financial covenants. However, due to actual recorded
impairments, tax valuation allowances and restructuring charges, our consolidated net worth and consolidated
EBITDA have been reduced. At December 31, 2014, the consolidated net worth and consolidated debt to consolidated
EBITDA covenants were both in compliance by approximately $10 million to $25 million.

The Credit Agreement contains a number of other covenants restricting, among other things, our ability to incur
additional liens and indebtedness, enter into asset sales, repurchase our equity shares and make certain types of
investments. Our subsidiaries are restricted from incurring indebtedness, except if such indebtedness relates to
purchase money obligations, capitalized leases, refinancing or renewals secured by liens upon or in property acquired,
constructed or improved in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $200 million at any time outstanding.
Additionally, our subsidiaries may incur unsecured indebtedness not to exceed $200 million in aggregate outstanding
principal amount at any time. We are also permitted to repurchase our equity shares,
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provided that no such repurchases shall be made from proceeds borrowed under the Credit Agreement, and that the
aggregate purchase price and dividends paid after December 2, 2011, does not exceed the Distribution Cap (equal to
the sum of $750 million plus the lesser of (1) $400 million and (2) the amount received by us in connection with the
arbitration and subsequent litigation of the PEP contracts as discussed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial
statements). At December 31, 2014, the remaining availability under the Distribution Cap was approximately $468
million.

Nonrecourse Project Finance Debt

Information relating to our nonrecourse project debt is described in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements
and the information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Letters of credit, surety bonds and guarantees. In connection with certain projects, we are required to provide letters
of credit, surety bonds or guarantees to our customers. Letters of credit are provided to certain customers and
counterparties in the ordinary course of business as credit support for contractual performance guarantees, advanced
payments received from customers and future funding commitments. We have approximately $2.1 billion in
committed and uncommitted lines of credit to support the issuance of letters of credit and as of December 31, 2014,
we have utilized $628 million of our present capacity under lines of credit. Surety bonds are also posted under the
terms of certain contracts to guarantee our performance. The letters of credit outstanding included $174 million issued
under our Credit Agreement and $454 million issued under uncommitted bank lines as of December 31, 2014. Of the
letters of credit outstanding under our Credit Agreement, approximately $3 million letters of credit have expiry dates
beyond the maturity date of the Credit Agreement. Of the total letters of credit outstanding, $246 million relate to our
joint venture operations where the letters of credit are posted using our capacity to support our pro-rata share of
obligations under various contracts executed by joint ventures of which we are a member. As the need arises, future
projects will be supported by letters of credit issued under our Credit Agreement or other lines of credit arranged on a
bilateral, syndicated or other basis. We believe we have adequate letter of credit capacity under our Credit Agreement
and bilateral lines of credit to support our operations for the next twelve months.

Commitments and other contractual obligations. The following table summarizes our significant contractual
obligations and other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2014:
Payments Due

Dollars in millions 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter Total
Operating leases (a) $99 $85 $71 $62 $53 $383 $753
Purchase obligations (b) 8 4 1 1 1 2 17
Pension funding obligation (c) 48 44 44 44 44 173 397
Nonrecourse project finance debt 10 10 11 12 12 18 73
Total (d) $165 $143 $127 $119 $110 $576 $1,240

(a) Amounts presented are net of subleases.

In the ordinary course of business, we enter into commitments for the purchase or lease of software, materials,

supplies and similar items. The purchase obligations can span several years depending on the duration of the

projects. In general, the costs associated with those purchase obligations are expensed to correspond with the

revenues earned on the related projects. The purchase obligations disclosed above do not include purchase

obligations that we enter into with vendors in the normal course of business that support existing contracting

arrangements with our customers.

(c)Included in our pension obligations are payments related to our agreement with the trustees of our international
plan. The agreement calls for minimum contributions of £28 million in 2014 through 2023. The foreign funding

(b)

Table of Contents 80



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

obligations were converted to U.S. dollars using the conversion rate as of December 31, 2014. KBR, Inc. has
provided a guarantee for up to £125 million in support of Kellogg Brown & Root (U.K.) Limited's obligation to
make payments to the plan in respect of its liability under the U.K. Pensions Act 1995.
Not included in the total are uncertain tax positions recorded pursuant to ASC 740 - Income Taxes, which totaled
$228 million as of December 31, 2014. The ultimate timing of when these obligations will be settled cannot be

( )determined with reasonable assurance and have been excluded from the table above. See Note 13 to our
consolidated financial statements for further discussion on income taxes.
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Transactions with Joint Ventures

We perform many of our projects through incorporated and unincorporated joint ventures. In addition to participating
as a joint venture partner, we often provide engineering, procurement, construction, operations or maintenance
services to the joint venture as a subcontractor. Where we provide services to a joint venture that we control and
therefore consolidate for financial reporting purposes, we eliminate intercompany revenues and expenses on such
transactions. In situations where we account for our interest in the joint venture under the equity method of
accounting, we do not eliminate any portion of our revenues or expenses. We recognize the profit on our services
provided to joint ventures that we consolidate and joint ventures that we record under the equity method of accounting
primarily using the percentage-of-completion method.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information relating to recent accounting pronouncements is described in Note 21 to our consolidated financial
statements and the information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

U.S. Government Matters

Information relating to U.S. government matters commitments and contingencies is described in Note 14 to our
consolidated financial statements and the information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

Legal Proceedings

Information relating to various commitments and contingencies is described in Note 15 to our consolidated financial
statements and the information discussed therein is incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the determination of financial positions, cash
flows and results of operations. Our critical accounting policies are described below to provide a better understanding
of our estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Significant accounting estimates are important to the representation of our financial position and
results of operations and require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable according to the current facts and
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

We believe the following are the critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, as well as the significant
estimates and assumptions affecting the application of these policies. Our accounting policies are more fully described
in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.

Engineering and Construction Contracts. Revenues from the performance of contracts for which specifications are
provided by the customer for the construction of facilities, the production of goods or the provision of related services
is accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method. These contracts include services essential to the
construction or production of tangible property, such as design, EPC and EPC management.
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At the outset of each contract, we prepare a detailed analysis of our estimated cost to complete the project. Risks
relating to service delivery, usage, productivity and other factors are considered in the estimation process. Our project
personnel regularly evaluate the estimated costs, revenues and progress and adjust the estimates accordingly.

We measure the progress towards completion of the project to determine the amount of revenues and profit to be
recognized in each reporting period. Profits are recorded based upon the product of estimated contract profit at
completion times the current percentage-complete for the contract. Our progress estimates are based upon estimates of
the total cost to complete the project, which considers, among other things, the current project schedule and
anticipated completion date, as well as estimates of the extent of progress toward completion. While progress is
generally based upon costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs at completion, we also use alternative methods
including physical progress, labor hours incurred to total estimated labor hours at completion or others depending on
the type of project.
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Our estimate of total revenues includes estimates of probable liquidated damages and certain probable claims and
unapproved change orders. When estimating the amount of total gross profit or loss on a contract, we include certain
unapproved change orders or claims to our clients as adjustments to revenues and claims to vendors, subcontractors
and others as adjustments to total estimated costs. Claims against others are recorded up to the extent of the lesser of
the amounts management expects to recover or to costs incurred and include no profit until such time as they are
finalized and approved. See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on unapproved change
orders and claims.

At least quarterly, significant projects are reviewed by management. We have a long history of working with multiple
types of projects and in preparing cost estimates. However, there are many factors that impact future costs, including
but not limited to weather, inflation, labor and community disruptions, timely availability of materials, productivity
and other factors as outlined in “Item 1A. Risk Factors”. These factors can affect the accuracy of our estimates and
materially impact our future reported earnings.

For contracts containing multiple deliverables we analyze each activity within the contract to ensure that we adhere to
the separation guidelines of ASC 605 - Revenue Recognition and ASC 605-25 - Multiple-Element Arrangements.

Estimated Losses on Uncompleted Contracts and Changes in Contract Estimates. We record provisions for total
estimated losses on uncompleted contracts in the period in which such losses are identified. The cumulative effects of
revisions to contract revenues and estimated completion costs are recorded in the accounting period in which the
amounts become evident and can be reasonably estimated. These revisions can include such items as the effects of
change orders and claims, warranty claims, liquidated damages or other contractual penalties, adjustments for audit
findings on U.S. government contracts and contract closeout settlements. Information relating to our changes in
estimates is discussed in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements and the information discussed therein is
incorporated by reference into this Item 7.

Accounting for Government Contracts. Some of the services provided to the U.S. government are performed on
cost-reimbursable contracts. Generally, these contracts may contain base fees (a fixed profit percentage applied to our
actual costs to complete the work).

Revenues are recognized at the time services are performed, and such revenues include base fees, actual direct project
costs incurred and an allocation of indirect costs. Indirect costs are applied using rates approved by our government
customers. The general, administrative and overhead cost reimbursement rates are estimated periodically in
accordance with government contract accounting regulations and may change based on actual costs incurred or based
upon the volume of work performed. Revenues are reduced for our estimate of costs that either are in dispute with our
customer or have been identified as potentially unallowable pursuant to the terms of the contract or the federal
acquisition regulations.

Similar to many cost-reimbursable contracts, these government contracts are typically subject to audit and adjustment
by our customer. Each contract is unique; therefore, the level of confidence in our estimates for audit adjustments
varies depending on how much historical data we have with a particular contract. KBR excludes from billings to the
U.S. government costs that are expressly unallowable, or mutually agreed to be unallowable, or not allocable to
government contracts based on the applicable regulations. Revenues recorded for government contract work are
reduced for our estimate of potentially unallowable costs related to issues that may be categorized as disputed or
unallowable as a result of cost overruns or the audit process. Our estimates of potentially unallowable costs are based
upon, among other things, our internal analysis of the facts and circumstances, terms of the contracts and the
applicable provisions of the FAR, quality of supporting documentation for costs incurred and subcontract terms, as
applicable. From time to time, we engage outside counsel to advise us in determining whether certain costs are
allowable. We also review our analysis and findings with the administrative contracting officer (“ACQO”) as appropriate.
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In some cases, we may not reach agreement with the DCAA or the ACO regarding potentially unallowable costs
which may result in our filing of claims in various courts such as the Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals
(“ASBCA”) or the COFC. We only include amounts in revenues related to disputed and potentially unallowable costs
when we determine it is probable that such costs will result in revenue. We generally do not recognize additional
revenues for disputed or potentially unallowable costs for which revenues have been previously reduced until we
reach agreement with the DCAA and/or the ACO that such costs are allowable.

Goodwill Impairment Testing. Our October 1, 2014, annual impairment test for goodwill was a quantitative analysis
using a two-step process that involves comparing the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value,
including goodwill. The fair values of reporting units were determined using a combination of two methods, one
utilizing market earnings multiples (the market approach) and the other derived from discounted cash flow models
with estimated cash flows based on internal forecasts of revenues and expenses over a specified period plus a terminal
value (the income approach).

Under the market approach, we estimate fair value by applying earnings and revenue market multiples to a reporting
unit’s operating performance for the trailing twelve-month period. The earnings multiples for the market approach
ranged from 4.3 to 12.54 times the earnings for each of our reporting units. The income approach estimates fair value
by discounting each reporting
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unit’s estimated future cash flows using a weighted-average cost of capital that reflects current market conditions and
the risk profile of the reporting unit. To arrive at our future cash flows, we use estimates of economic and market
assumptions, including growth rates in revenues, costs, estimates of future expected changes in operating margins, tax
rates and cash expenditures. Future revenues are also adjusted to match changes in our business strategy. The
risk-adjusted discount rates applied to our future cash flows under the income approach ranged from 11.4% to 15.4%.
We believe these two approaches are appropriate valuation techniques and we generally weight the two resulting
values equally as an estimate of a reporting unit's fair value for the purposes of our impairment testing. However, we
may weigh one value more heavily than the other when conditions merit doing so. Other significant estimates and
assumptions include terminal value growth rates, future estimates of capital expenditures and changes in future
working capital requirements. The fair value derived from the weighting of these two methods provides appropriate
valuations that, in the aggregate, reasonably reconcile to our market capitalization, taking into account observable
control premiums.

In addition to the earnings multiples and the discount rates disclosed above, certain other judgments and estimates are
used in our goodwill impairment test. Given this, if market conditions change compared to those used in our market
approach, or if actual future results of operations fall below the projections used in the income approach, our goodwill
could become impaired in the future.

At the annual testing date of October 1, 2014, our market capitalization exceeded the carrying value of our
consolidated net assets by $1.5 billion and, except for three of our previous reporting units; the fair value of all our
reporting units substantially exceeded their respective carrying amounts as of that date.

In connection with preparing for our reorganization on December 11, 2014, we decided we would no longer bid on
certain types of work and we would also exit certain non-strategic businesses. As a result, our forecasts of future cash
flows for three of our previous reporting units were significantly reduced. The carrying value of three of our previous
reporting units exceeded their fair value by approximately 54%, 106% and 811%, respectively, thus failing Step 1. We
then performed Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test which compares the implied fair value of goodwill to the
carrying value of that goodwill. The carrying value of each of the reporting units' goodwill exceeded the implied fair
value of that goodwill, respectively. As a result, we recorded a noncash goodwill impairment charge of $446 million.

On December 31, 2014, we reorganized our reporting units in conjunction with our business segment reorganization.
As aresult, we performed an additional impairment test immediately before and after this change in reporting units,
utilizing the same methodology as our October 1st test and no indication of impairment was identified. At the testing
date of December 31, 2014, our market capitalization exceeded the carrying value of our consolidated net assets by
$1.6 billion and the fair value of all our reporting units substantially exceeded their respective carrying amounts as of
that date. The fair value for one reporting unit in our E&C business segment with goodwill of $75 million exceeded its
carrying value by 20% based on projected growth rates and other market inputs that are more sensitive to the risk of
future variances due to competitive market conditions and reporting unit project execution. If future variances for
these assumptions are negative and significant, the fair value of this reporting unit may not substantially exceed its
carrying value in future periods.

In the third quarter of 2012, we recognized a noncash goodwill impairment charge of $178 million related to one of
our previous reporting units, now included in the Non-strategic Business segment, in connection with our interim
impairment review. The charge was primarily the result of the determination that both the actual and expected income
and cash flows were substantially lower than previous forecasts due to losses from ongoing projects acquired as part
of the acquisition of Roberts & Schaefer Company. We also identified a deterioration in economic conditions in the
minerals markets and less than expected actual and projected income and cash flows for the previous reporting unit,
which reduced forecasts of the sales, operating income and cash flows expected in 2013 and beyond.
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Deferred taxes and tax contingencies. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for discussion on income
taxes.

Legal and Investigation Matters. As discussed in Notes 14 and 15 to our consolidated financial statements, as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we have accrued an estimate of the probable and estimable costs for the resolution of
some of our legal and investigation matters. For other matters for which the liability is not probable and reasonably
estimable, we have not accrued any amounts. Attorneys in our legal department monitor and manage all claims filed
against us and review all pending investigations. Generally, the estimate of probable costs related to these matters is
developed in consultation with internal and external legal counsel representing us. Our estimates are based upon an
analysis of potential results, assuming a combination of litigation and settlement strategies. The precision of these
estimates and the likelihood of future changes depend on a number of underlying variables and a range of possible
outcomes. We attempt to resolve these matters through settlements, mediation and arbitration proceedings when
possible. If the actual settlement costs, final judgments or fines, differ from our estimates after appeals, our future
financial results may be materially and adversely affected. We record adjustments to our initial estimates of these
types of contingencies in the periods when the change in estimate is identified.
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Pensions. Our pension benefit obligations and expenses are calculated using actuarial models and methods. Two of the
more critical assumptions and estimates used in the actuarial calculations are the discount rate for determining the
current value of benefit obligations and the expected rate of return on plan assets. Other assumptions and estimates
used in determining benefit obligations and plan expenses include inflation rates and demographic factors such as
retirement age, mortality and turnover. These assumptions and estimates are evaluated periodically and are updated
accordingly to reflect our actual experience and expectations.

The discount rate used to determine the benefit obligations was computed using a yield curve approach that matches
plan specific cash flows to a spot rate yield curve based on high quality corporate bonds. The expected long-term rate
of return on assets was determined by a stochastic projection that takes into account asset allocation strategies,
historical long-term performance of individual asset classes, an analysis of additional return (net of fees) generated by
active management, risks using standard deviations and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise
the plans' asset mix. Plan assets are comprised primarily of equity securities, fixed income funds and securities, hedge
funds, real estate and other funds. As we have both domestic and international plans, these assumptions differ based
on varying factors specific to each particular country or economic environment.

The discount rate utilized to calculate the projected benefit obligation at the measurement date for our U.S. pension
plan decreased to 2.89% at December 31, 2014 from 3.38% at December 31, 2013. The discount rate utilized to
determine the projected benefit obligation at the measurement date for our U.K. pension plan, which constitutes all of
our international plans and 96% of all plans, decreased to 3.65% at December 31, 2014 from 4.45% at December 31,
2013. Our expected long-term rates of return on plan assets utilized at the measurement date decreased to 5.28% from
7.00% for our U.S. pension plans and increased to 6.45% from 6.15% for our U.K. pension plans.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity to changes in certain assumptions, holding all other assumptions
constant, for our pension plans:

Effect on
Pension Benefit Obligation at

Pretax Pension Cost in 2015 December 31, 2014

U.S. UK. U.S. U.K.
Dollars in millions
25-basis-point decrease in discount rate — 5 2 111
25-basis-point increase in discount rate — (5 ) (2 ) (103 )
25-basis-point decrease in expected long-term rate of | 4 N/A N/A
return
rZeSt;ll;arllsm—pomt increase in expected long-term rate of o “ ) N/A N/A

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are generally recognized using the corridor method over a period of
approximately 15 years, which represents a reasonable systematic method for amortizing gains and losses for the
employee group. Our unrecognized actuarial gains and losses arise from several factors, including experience and
assumption changes in the obligations and the difference between expected returns and actual returns on plan assets.
The difference between actual and expected returns is deferred as an unrecognized actuarial gain or loss on our
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) and is recognized as a decrease or an increase in future
pension expense. Our pretax unrecognized actuarial loss in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31,
2014 was $901 million, of which $50 million is expected to be recognized as a component of our expected 2015
pension expense compared to in 2014. During 2014, we made contributions to fund our defined benefit plans of $48
million, and we currently expect to make contributions in 2015 of approximately $48 million.
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The actuarial assumptions used in determining our pension benefits may differ materially from actual results due to
changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates and longer or shorter life spans of
participants. While we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate, differences in actual experience,
expectations, or changes in assumptions may materially affect our financial position or results of operations. Our
actuarial estimates of pension benefit expense and expected pension returns of plan assets are discussed in Note 11 in
the accompanying financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Discussion about Market Risk

We invest excess cash and equivalents in short-term securities, primarily time deposits, which carry a fixed rate of
return for a given duration of time. Additionally, a substantial portion of our cash balances are maintained in foreign
countries.

We are exposed to market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which may adversely
affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are exposed to and use derivative instruments, such as foreign exchange forward contracts and options to hedge
foreign currency risk related to non-functional currency assets and liabilities on our balance sheet. Each period, these
balance sheet hedges are marked to market through earnings and the change in their fair value is largely offset by
remeasurement of the underlying assets and liabilities. The fair value of these derivatives was not material to our
consolidated balance sheet for the periods presented. See Note 20 to our consolidated financial statements for more
information.

Where possible, we limit exposure to foreign currency fluctuations on forecasted transactions through provisions in
our contracts that require client payments in currencies corresponding to the currency in which costs are incurred. In
addition to this natural hedge, we use foreign exchange forward contracts and options to hedge forecasted foreign
currency sales and purchase transactions. These derivatives are generally designated as cash flow hedges and are
carried at fair value. The effective portion of the gain or loss is initially reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), and upon occurrence of the forecasted transaction, is subsequently reclassified into the
income or expense line item to which the hedged transaction relates. Changes in the fair value of (1) credit risk and
forward points, (2) instruments deemed ineffective during the period, and (3) instruments that we do not designate as
cash flow hedges, are recognized within our consolidated statement of operations. We do not hold or issue derivatives
for trading purposes or make speculative investments in foreign currencies. The impact of our hedging activities
associated with our operating exposures was not material to our consolidated financial statements for and during

the years ended December 31, 2014, December 31, 2013, and December 31, 2012.

We are exposed to the effects of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (primarily Australian Dollar, British Pound,
Canadian Dollar, and Euro denominated) on the translation of the financial statements of our foreign operations into
our reporting currency. The impact of this translation to U.S. dollars is recognized as a cumulative translation
adjustment in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). We do not hedge our exposure to potential foreign
currency translation adjustments.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Operations for years ended December 31. 2014, 2013. and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31,
2014. 2013. and 2012

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31. 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the vears ended December 31. 2014,
2013, and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013. and
2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The related financial statement schedules are included under Part IV, Item 15 of this annual report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
KBR, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of KBR, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. In connection with our
audit of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the consolidated financial statement schedule for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014. These consolidated financial statements and
consolidated financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of KBR, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related consolidated financial statement schedule
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), KBR, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 27, 2015
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In millions, except for per share data)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenues $6,366 $7,214 $7,770
Cost of revenues (6,431 ) (6,797 ) (7,252 )
Gross profit (loss) (65 ) 417 518
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 163 137 151
General and administrative expenses (239 ) (248 ) (222 )
Impairment of goodwill (446 ) — (178 )
Asset impairment and restructuring charges (214 ) — 2 )
Gain on disposition of assets 7 2 32
Operating income (loss) (794 ) 308 299
Other non-operating income (expenses) 17 (8 ) (11 )
Income (loss) before income taxes and noncontrolling interests (777 ) 300 288
Provision for income taxes (421 ) (129 ) (86 )
Net income (loss) (1,198 ) 171 202
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (64 ) (96 ) (58 )
Net income (loss) attributable to KBR $(1,262 ) $75 $144
Net income (loss) attributable to KBR per share:
Basic $(8.66 ) $0.50 $0.97
Diluted $(8.66 ) $0.50 $0.97
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 146 148 148
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 146 149 149
Cash dividends declared per share $0.32 $0.24 $0.28
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In millions)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net income (loss) $(1,198 ) $171 $202
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax (71 ) (35 ) (11
Reclassification adjustment included in net income 1 1 @
ggrelgn currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $(4), $(27) and (70 ) (34 ) (18
Pension and post-retirement benefits, net of tax:
Actuarial losses, net of tax (104 ) (122 ) (77
Reclassification adjustment included in net income 42 35 27
g(eilzon and post-retirement benefits, net of taxes of $(10), $(18) and ©2 ) (87 ) (50
Changes in fair value of derivatives:
Changes in fair value of derivatives, net of tax 2 ) 1 2
Reclassification adjustment included in net income — (1 ) 4
Changes in fair value of derivatives, net of taxes of $0, $0 and $(1) 2 ) — 6
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (134 ) (121 ) (62
Comprehensive income (loss) (1,332 ) 50 140
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (66 ) (105 ) (58
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to KBR $(1,398 ) $(55 ) $82

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except share data)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and equivalents

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $19 and $18

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts ("CIE")
Deferred income taxes

Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $385 and $397
(including net PPE of $57 and $67 owned by a variable interest entity)

Goodwill

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $96 and $112

Equity in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates

Deferred income taxes

Claims and accounts receivable

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Payable to former parent

Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts ("BIE")
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits

Nonrecourse project debt

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Pension obligations

Employee compensation and benefits

Income tax payable

Deferred income taxes

Nonrecourse project debt

Deferred income from unconsolidated affiliates

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

KBR shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, O shares issued and
outstanding

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized, 174,448,399 and
173,924,509 shares issued, and 144,837,281 and 148,195,208 shares outstanding
Paid-in capital in excess of par ("PIC")

Accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCL")

Retained earnings

Treasury stock, 29,611,118 shares and 25,729,301 shares, at cost
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December 31,
2014

$970
847
490
90
147
2,544

247

324

41

151
174
570
148
$4,199

$742
56
531
197
10
488
2,024
502
112
69
170
63

95
229
3,264

2,091

(876 )
439

(712 )

2013

$1,106
1,056
399
168
196
2,925

415

772

85

156
344
628
113
$5,438

$747
105
401
235
10
409
1,907
477
114
70
86
78

267
2,999

2,065
(740 )
1,748
(610 )
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Total KBR shareholders’ equity 942
Noncontrolling interests ("NCI") (7
Total shareholders’ equity 935
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $4,199

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(In millions)

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Balance at January 1, $2,439 $2,511 $2,442
Deferred tax and foreign currency adjustments to PIC — — 17
Share-based compensation 22 16 16
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options 4 6 7
Tax benefit increase related to share-based plans — — 4
Dividends declared to shareholders 47 ) (36 ) (42 )
Adjustments pursuant to tax sharing agreement — 7 ) —
Repurchases of common stock (106 ) (7 ) (40 )
Issuance of employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP") shares 4 4 3
Investments from noncontrolling interests 10 9 —
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (61 ) (109 ) (36 )
Change in NCI due to consolidation of previously unconsolidated JV — 2 —
Other NCI activity 2 — —
Comprehensive income (loss) (1,332 ) 50 140
Balance at December 31, $935 $2,439 $2,511
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(1,198 ) $171 $202
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 72 68 65
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (163 ) (137 ) (151 )
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense 353 18 18
Gain on disposition of assets (7 ) 2 ) (32 )
Gain on negotiated settlement with former parent 24 ) — —
Impairment of goodwill 446 — 178
Asset impairment 171 — 2
Other 11 21 35
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 170 — 9 )
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts (107 ) 140 (239 )
Accounts payable (10 ) 49 (14 )
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 144 (20 ) (93 )
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits 29 ) (14 ) (8 )
Reserve for loss on uncompleted contracts 57 53 34
Receipts of advances from unconsolidated affiliates, net 13 14 (6 )
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated affiliates 249 180 108
Payment on performance bonds for EPC 1 project in Mexico — (108 ) —
Income taxes payable 14 (51 ) (62 )
Pension funding (48 ) (54 ) (30 )
Retainage payable (16 ) (35 ) (70 )
Subcontractor advances A3 ) 20 131
Other assets and liabilities 75 (16 ) 83
Total cash flows provided by operating activities 170 297 142
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition or disposition of businesses — 10 € )
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (53 ) (78 ) (75 )
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments 9 6 127
Return of capital from equity method joint ventures — — 3
Total cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities $(44 ) $(62 ) $52
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KBR, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments to reacquire common stock (106 ) (7 40 )
Investments from noncontrolling interests 10 9 —
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (61 ) (109 (36 )
Payments of dividends to shareholders 47 ) (36 (37 )
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 4 6 7
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation — — 4
Payments on short-term and long-term borrowings (11 ) (14 (14 )
Other 1 3 —
Total cash flows used in financing activities (210 ) (148 (116 )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (52 ) (34 9
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (136 ) 53 87
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period 1,106 1,053 966
Cash and equivalents at end of period $970 $1,106 $1,053
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information:
Cash paid for interest $11 $12 $15
Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) $37 $127 $81
Noncash operating activities
Other assets change for payments made on our behalf by former parent $— $(219 $22
Other liabilities change for payments made on our behalf by former parent $— $219 $(22 )
Noncash financing activities
Dividends declared $12 $12 $12
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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KBR, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Description of Company and Significant Accounting Policies

KBR, Inc., a Delaware corporation, was formed on March 21, 2006 and is headquartered in Houston, Texas. KBR,
Inc. and its wholly owned and majority-owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to herein as "KBR", "the Company",
"we", "us" or "our") is an engineering, procurement, construction and services company supporting the global
hydrocarbons and international government services market segments. Our capabilities include engineering,
procurement, construction, construction management, technology licensing, operations, maintenance and other
support services to a diverse customer base, including international and national oil and gas companies, independent

refiners, petrochemical producers, fertilizer producers, manufacturers and domestic and foreign governments.
Principles of consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States ("U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of KBR and our wholly owned and majority-owned,
controlled subsidiaries and variable interest entities of which we are the primary beneficiary. We account for
investments over which we have significant influence but not a controlling financial interest using the equity method
of accounting. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion on our equity investments
and variable interest entities. The cost method is used when we do not have the ability to exert significant influence.
All material intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation on the consolidated
statement of operations, consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of cash flows.

We have evaluated all events and transactions occurring after the balance sheet date but before the financial
statements were issued and have included the appropriate disclosures.

Use of estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Areas requiring significant estimates and
assumptions by our management include the following:

project revenues, costs and profits on engineering and construction contracts and government services contracts,
including recognition of estimated losses on uncompleted contracts

provisions for uncollectible receivables and client claims and recoveries of costs from subcontractors, vendors and
others

provisions for income taxes and related valuation allowances and tax uncertainties

recoverability of goodwill

recoverability of other intangibles and long-lived assets and related estimated lives

recoverability of equity method and cost method investments

valuation of pension obligations and pension assets

accruals for estimated liabilities, including litigation accruals

consolidation of variable interest entities

valuation of stock-based compensation
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In accordance with normal practice in the construction industry, we include in current assets and current liabilities
amounts related to construction contracts realizable and payable over a period in excess of one year. If the underlying
estimates and assumptions upon which the financial statements are based change in the future, actual amounts may
differ from those included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue Recognition - Engineering and construction contracts

Contracts. Revenues from contracts to provide construction, engineering, design or similar services is reported on the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605 - Revenue Recognition. Depending on the type of job, progress is
generally measured based upon man-hours expended to total man-hours estimated at completion, costs incurred to
total estimated costs at completion or physical progress. All known or anticipated losses on contracts are provided for
in the period they become evident. Certain claims and change orders that are in the process of negotiation with
customers for additional work or changes in the scope of work are included in contract value when collection is
deemed probable and the value can be reliably estimated.

Our work is performed under three general types of contracts: fixed-price contracts, cost-reimbursable plus a fee or
mark-up contracts and "hybrid" contracts containing both cost-reimbursable and fixed-price scopes. All contract types
may be modified by cost escalation provisions or other risk sharing mechanisms and incentive and penalty provisions.
During the term of a project, the contract or components of the contract may be renegotiated to include characteristics
of a different contract type. When we negotiate any type of contract, we frequently are required to accomplish the
scope of work and meet certain performance criteria within a specified time frame; otherwise, we could be assessed
damages, which in some cases are agreed-upon liquidated damages. We include an estimate of liquidated damages in
our estimates of total contract value when it is deemed probable that they will be assessed. Profits are recorded based
upon the product of estimated contract profit at completion times the current percentage-complete for the contract.

Fixed-price contracts, which include our unit-rate contracts (essentially a fixed-price contract with the only variable
being units of work performed) where we are paid fixed amounts based on the final number of units of work
performed, are for a fixed sum to cover all costs and any profit element for a defined scope of work. Fixed-price
contracts entail more risk to us because they require us to predetermine the work to be performed, the project
execution schedule and the costs associated with the work. As a result, we may benefit or be penalized for cost
variations from our original estimates. However, these contract prices may be adjusted for changes in scope of work,
new or changing laws and regulations and other negotiated events.

Cost-reimbursable contracts include contracts where the price is variable based upon our actual costs incurred for time
and materials and for reimbursable labor hour contracts. Profit on cost-reimbursable contracts may be a fixed amount,
a mark-up applied to costs incurred or a combination of the two. Cost-reimbursable contracts are generally less risky
than fixed-price contracts because the owner/customer retains many of the project risks. Our cost-reimbursable
contracts include the following:

Cost-plus and Time and Material contracts - These are contracts under which we are reimbursed for allowable or
otherwise defined costs incurred plus a fee or mark-up. The contracts may also include incentives for various
performance criteria, including quality, timeliness, ingenuity, safety and cost-effectiveness. In addition, our costs are
generally subject to review by our clients and regulatory audit agencies, and such reviews could result in costs being
disputed as non-reimbursable under the terms of the contract.

Target-price contracts - These are contracts under which we are reimbursed for costs plus a fee consisting of two
parts: (1) a fixed amount, which does not vary with performance, but may be at risk when a target price is exceeded,;
and (2) an award amount based on the performance and cost-effectiveness of the project. As a result, we are generally
able to recover cost overruns on these contracts from actual damages for late delivery or the failure to meet certain
performance criteria. Target-price contracts also generally provide for sharing of costs in excess of or savings for
costs less than the target. In some contracts, we may agree to share cost overruns in excess of our fee, which could
result in a loss on the project.
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Unapproved Change Orders and Claims. Revenues and gross profit on contracts can be significantly affected by
change orders and claims that may not be approved by the customer until the later stages of a contract or subsequent to
the date a project is completed. If it is not probable that the costs will be recovered through a change in contract price,
the costs attributable to change orders are treated as contract costs without incremental revenue. For certain contracts
where it is probable that the costs will be recovered through a change order, total estimated contract revenue is
increased by the lesser of the amounts management expects to recover or the costs expected to be incurred.

When estimating the amount of total gross profit or loss on a contract, we include unapproved change orders or claims
to our clients as adjustments to revenues. We include claims to vendors, subcontractors and others as adjustments to
total estimated costs. Claims against others are recorded up to the extent of the lesser of the amounts management
expects to recover or to costs incurred and include no profit until such time as they are finalized and approved. See
Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on unapproved change orders and claims.
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Revenue Recognition - Government contracts

Some of the services provided to the United States ("U.S.") government are performed on cost-reimbursable contracts.
Generally, these contracts may contain base fees (a fixed profit percentage applied to our actual costs to complete the
work).

Revenues are recognized at the time services are performed, and such revenues include base fees, actual direct project
costs incurred and an allocation of indirect costs. Indirect costs are applied using rates approved by our government
customers. The general, administrative and overhead cost reimbursement rates are estimated periodically in
accordance with government contract accounting regulations and may change based on actual costs incurred or based
upon the volume of work performed. Revenues are reduced for our estimate of costs that either are in dispute with our
customer or have been identified as potentially unallowable pursuant to the terms of the contract or the federal
acquisition regulations.

Accounting for multiple deliverables contracts

For contracts containing multiple deliverables, we analyze each activity within the contract to ensure that we adhere to
the separation guidelines for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables in accordance with FASB ASC 605.

Gross Profit

Gross profit represents business segment revenues less the cost of revenues, which includes business segment
overhead costs directly attributable to the business segment.

Cost estimates

Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance.
Indirect costs, included in cost of revenues, include charges for such items as facilities, engineering, project
management, quality control, bid and proposals and procurement.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses represent corporate overhead expenses that are not associated with the
execution of the contracts. General and administrative expenses include charges for such items as executive
management, corporate business development, information technology, finance and corporate accounting, human
resources and various other corporate functions.

Cash and Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. See
Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on cash and equivalents.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount based on contracted prices. Amounts collected on accounts
receivable are included in net cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the assessment of the clients’ willingness and ability to pay.
In addition to such allowances, there are often items in dispute or being negotiated that may require us to make an
estimate as to the ultimate outcome. Past due receivable balances are written off when our internal collection efforts
have been unsuccessful in collecting the amounts due. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements for our
discussion on accounts receivable.

Retainage, included in accounts receivable, represents amounts withheld from billings by our clients pursuant to
provisions in the contracts and may not be paid to us until the completion of specific tasks or the completion of the
project and, in some instances, for even longer periods. Retainage may also be subject to restrictive conditions such as
performance guarantees. Our retainage receivable excludes amounts withheld by the U.S. government on certain
contracts. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on U.S. government receivables.
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Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings on Uncompleted Contracts, Including Claims, and Advanced
Billings and Billings in Excess of Costs and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts

Billing practices are governed by the contract terms of each project based upon costs incurred, achievement of
milestones or pre-agreed schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted
contracts represent the excess of contract costs and profits recognized to date using the percentage-of-completion
method over billings to date on certain contracts. Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted
contracts represents the excess of billings to date over the amount of contract costs and profits recognized to date
using the percentage-of-completion method on certain contracts. With the exception of claims and change orders that
we are in the process of negotiating with customers, unbilled receivables are usually billed during normal billing
processes following achievement of the contractual requirements. See Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements
for our discussion on CIE and BIE.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reported at cost less accumulated depreciation except for those assets that have been
written down to their fair values due to impairment. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are
capitalized and minor replacements, maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. The cost of property,
plant and equipment sold or otherwise disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the
accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in operating income for the respective period. Depreciation is
generally provided on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful life of the improvement or
the lease term. See Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on property, plant and
equipment.

Goodwill

Goodwill is an asset representing the excess cost over the fair market value of net assets acquired in business
combinations. In accordance with ASC 350 - Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, we are required to test goodwill for
impairment on an annual basis and more frequently when negative conditions or other triggering events arise. We test
goodwill for impairment annually as of October 1. In accordance with ASC 350 - Intangibles - Goodwill and Other,
we conduct our goodwill impairment testing at the reporting unit level. See Note 8 for our discussion on our annual
impairment test.

Our October 1, 2014 annual impairment test for goodwill was a quantitative analysis using a two-step process that
involves comparing the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair
value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, the goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired;
therefore, the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, we perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test to measure the amount of goodwill impairment
loss to be recorded, as necessary. The second step compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill to
the carrying value, if any, of that goodwill. We determine the implied fair value of the goodwill in the same manner as
determining the amount of goodwill to be recognized in a business combination.

The fair values of reporting units were determined using a combination of two methods, one utilizing market earnings
multiples (the market approach) and the other derived from discounted cash flow models with estimated cash flows
based on internal forecasts of revenues and expenses over a specified period plus a terminal value (the income
approach).

Intangible assets
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Our intangible assets are related to various licenses, trade names, patents, technology and related processes. Except for
an $11 million indefinite lived trade name, which we do not amortize, the costs of our intangible assets are generally
amortized over their estimated useful lives up to 25 years. The method of amortization reflects the expected
realization pattern of the economic benefits relevant to the intangible assets, or if we are unable to determine the
expected realization pattern reliably, they are amortized using the straight-line method. We also have intangible assets
related to trade names, client relationships and non-compete agreements which are associated with acquisitions we
have completed and are generally amortized over a three-to ten-year period on a straight-line basis. We assess the
recoverability of the unamortized balance of our intangible assets when indicators of impairment are present based on
expected future profitability and undiscounted expected cash flows and their contribution to our overall operations.
Should the review indicate that the carrying value is not fully recoverable, the excess of the carrying value over the
fair value of the intangible assets would be recognized as an impairment loss. See Note 8 to our consolidated financial
statements for our discussion on intangible assets.
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Investments

We account for non-marketable investments using the equity method of accounting if the investment gives us the
ability to exercise significant influence over, but not control of, an investee. Significant influence generally exists if
we have an ownership interest representing between 20% and 50% of the voting stock of the investee. Under the
equity method of accounting, investments are stated at initial cost and are adjusted for subsequent additional
investments and our proportionate share of earnings or losses and distributions.

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, in the consolidated statements of operations, reflects our proportionate
share of the investee's net income, including any associated affiliate taxes. Our proportionate share of the investee’s
other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes, is recorded in the consolidated statements of shareholders’
equity and consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). In general, the equity investment in our
unconsolidated affiliates is equal to our current equity investment plus those entities' undistributed earnings.

We evaluate our equity method investments for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate, in management’s judgment, that the carrying value of an investment may have experienced an
other-than-temporary decline in value. When evidence of loss in value has occurred, management compares the
estimated fair value of the investment to the carrying value of the investment to determine whether an impairment has
occurred. If the estimated fair value is less than the carrying value and management considers the decline in value to
be other than temporary, the excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value is recognized in the financial
statements as an impairment. See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on equity
method investments.

Where we are unable to exercise significant influence over the investee, or when our investment balance is reduced to
zero from our proportionate share of losses, the investments are accounted for under the cost method. Under the cost
method, investments are carried at cost and adjusted only for other-than-temporary declines in fair value, distributions
of earnings, or additional investments.

Pensions

We account for our defined benefit pension plans in accordance with ASC 715 - Compensation - Retirement Benefits,
which requires an employer to:

recognize on its balance sheet the funded status (measured as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and
the benefit obligation) of the pension plan;

recognize, through comprehensive income, certain changes in the funded status of a defined benefit plan in the year in
which the changes occur;

measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year; and

disclose additional information.

Our pension benefit obligations and expenses are calculated using actuarial models and methods. Two of the more
critical assumptions and estimates used in the actuarial calculations are the discount rate for determining the current
value of benefit obligations and the expected rate of return on plan assets. Other assumptions and estimates used in
determining benefit obligations and plan expenses include inflation rates and demographic factors such as retirement
age, mortality and turnover. These assumptions and estimates are evaluated periodically and are updated accordingly
to reflect our actual experience and expectations.

The discount rate used to determine the benefit obligations was computed using a yield curve approach that matches
plan specific cash flows to a spot rate yield curve based on high quality corporate bonds. The expected long-term rate
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of return on assets was determined by a stochastic projection that takes into account asset allocation strategies,
historical long-term performance of individual asset classes, an analysis of additional return (net of fees) generated by
active management, risks using standard deviations and correlations of returns among the asset classes that comprise
the plans' asset mix. Plan assets are comprised primarily of equity securities, fixed income funds and securities, hedge
funds, real estate and other funds. As we have both domestic and international plans, these assumptions differ based
on varying factors specific to each particular country or economic environment.

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are generally recognized using the corridor method over a period of
approximately 15 years, which represents a reasonable systematic method for amortizing gains and losses for the
employee group. Our unrecognized actuarial gains and losses arise from several factors, including experience and
assumption changes in the obligations and the difference between expected returns and actual returns on plan assets.
The difference between actual and expected returns
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is deferred as an unrecognized actuarial gain or loss on our consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss)
and is recognized as a decrease or an increase in future pension expense.

Income taxes

We recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the year and deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns. We
provide a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that these items will not be realized.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on income taxes.

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A current
tax asset or liability is recognized for the estimated taxes refundable or payable on tax returns. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. A
valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that these items will not be realized.
We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and available tax
planning strategies in making this assessment. Additionally, we use forecasts of certain tax elements such as taxable
income and foreign tax credit utilization in making this assessment of realization. Given the inherent uncertainty
involved with the use of such estimates and assumptions, there can be significant variation between estimated and
actual results.

We have operations in numerous countries other than the United States. Consequently, we are subject to the
jurisdiction of a significant number of taxing authorities. The income earned in these various jurisdictions is taxed on
differing bases, including income actually earned, income deemed earned and revenue-based tax withholding. The
final determination of our tax liabilities involves the interpretation of local tax laws, tax treaties and related authorities
in each jurisdiction. Changes in the operating environment, including changes in tax law and currency/repatriation
controls, could impact the determination of our tax liabilities for a tax year.

We recognize the effect of income tax positions only if it is more-likely-than-not that those positions will be sustained.
Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized.
Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. The
company records potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Tax filings of our subsidiaries, unconsolidated affiliates and related entities are routinely examined by tax authorities
in the normal course of business. These examinations may result in assessments of additional taxes, which we work to
resolve with the tax authorities and through the judicial process. Predicting the outcome of disputed assessments
involves some uncertainty. Factors such as the availability of settlement procedures, willingness of tax authorities to
negotiate and the operation and impartiality of judicial systems vary across the different tax jurisdictions and may
significantly influence the ultimate outcome. We review the facts for each assessment, and then utilize assumptions
and estimates to determine the most likely outcome and provide taxes, interest and penalties as needed based on this
outcome. See Note 12 for our discussion on income taxes.
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Derivative instruments

We enter into derivative financial transactions to hedge existing or forecasted exposures to changing foreign currency
exchange rates. We do not enter into derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes. We recognize all
derivatives at fair value on the balance sheet. Derivatives that are not accounted for as hedges under ASC 815 -
Derivatives and Hedging, are adjusted to fair value and such changes are reflected in the results of operations. If the
derivative is designated as a hedge under ASC 815, changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a designated
hedge's change in fair value is recognized in earnings. See Note 20 to our consolidated financial statements for our
discussion on derivative instruments.
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Recognized gains or losses on derivatives entered into to manage project related foreign exchange risk are included in
gross profit. Foreign currency gains and losses for hedges of non-project related foreign exchange risk are reported
within "Other non-operating income (expense)" on our consolidated statements of operations.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject our company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
cash and cash equivalents, and trade receivables. Our cash is primarily held with major banks and financial institutions
throughout the world. We believe the risk of any potential loss on deposits held in these institutions is minimal.

Contracts with clients usually contain standard provisions allowing the client to curtail or terminate contracts for
convenience. Upon such a termination, we are generally entitled to recover costs incurred, settlement expenses and
profit on work completed prior to termination and demobilization cost.

We have revenues and receivables from transactions with an external customer that amounts to 10% or more of our
revenues (which are generally not collateralized). A significant percentage of revenues is generated from transactions
with Chevron Corporation ("Chevron") which is derived primarily from our E&C business segment. No other
customers represented 10% or more of consolidated revenues in any of the periods presented.

The following tables present summarized data related to our transactions with Chevron.
Revenues from major customers:
Years ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012
Chevron revenues $1,069 $1,859 $2,302
Percentages of revenues and accounts receivable from major customers:
Years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Chevron revenues percentage 17 % 26 % 30 %
Chevron receivables percentage 9 % 13 % 17 %

Noncontrolling interest

Noncontrolling interests represent the equity investments of the minority owners in our joint ventures and other
subsidiary entities that we consolidate in our financial statements.

Foreign currency

Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of our non-U.S subsidiaries is typically the currency
of the primary environment in which they operate. Where the functional currency for a non-U.S subsidiary is not the
U.S. dollar, translation of all of the assets and liabilities (including long term assets, such as goodwill) to U.S. dollars
is based on exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Translation of revenues and expenses to U.S. dollars is
based on the average rate during the period and shareholders’ equity accounts are translated at historical rates.
Translation gains or losses, net of income tax effects, are reported in "accumulated other comprehensive loss" on our
consolidated balance sheets.

Transaction gains and losses that arise from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on transactions denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency are recognized in income each reporting period when these
transactions are either settled or remeasured. Transaction gains and losses on intra-entity foreign currency transactions
and balances including advances and demand notes payable, on which settlement is not planned or anticipated in the
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foreseeable future, are recorded in “accumulated other comprehensive loss” on our consolidated balance sheets.
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Variable Interest Entities

The majority of our joint ventures are variable interest entities ("VIEs"). We account for VIEs in accordance with
ASC 810 - Consolidation which requires the consolidation of VIEs in which a company has both the power to direct
the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and the obligation to absorb
losses or the right to receive the benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. If a reporting
enterprise meets these conditions then it has a controlling financial interest and is the primary beneficiary of the VIE.
Our unconsolidated VIEs are accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

We assess all newly created entities and those with which we become involved to determine whether such entities are
VIEs and, if so, whether or not we are their primary beneficiary. Most of the entities we assess are incorporated or
unincorporated joint ventures formed by us and our partner(s) for the purpose of executing a project or program for a
customer and are generally dissolved upon completion of the project or program. Many of our long-term
energy-related construction projects in our E&C business segment are executed through such joint ventures.
Typically, these joint ventures are funded by advances from the project owner, and accordingly, require little or no
equity investment by the joint venture partners but may require subordinated financial support from the joint venture
partners such as letters of credit, performance and financial guarantees or obligations to fund losses incurred by the
joint venture. Other joint ventures, such as privately financed initiatives in our GS business segment, generally require
the partners to invest equity and take an ownership position in an entity that manages and operates an asset after
construction is complete.

As required by ASC 810 - Consolidation, we perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether we are the
primary beneficiary once an entity is identified as a VIE. Thereafter, we continue to re-evaluate whether we are the
primary beneficiary of the VIE in accordance with ASC 810 - Consolidation. A qualitative assessment begins with an
understanding of the nature of the risks in the entity as well as the nature of the entity’s activities. These include the
terms of the contracts entered into by the entity, ownership interests issued by the entity and how they were marketed
and the parties involved in the design of the entity. We then identify all of the variable interests held by parties
involved with the VIE including, among other things, equity investments, subordinated debt financing, letters of
credit, financial and performance guarantees and contracted service providers. Once we identify the variable interests,
we determine those activities which are most significant to the economic performance of the entity and which variable
interest holder has the power to direct those activities. Though infrequent, some of our assessments reveal no primary
beneficiary because the power to direct the most significant activities that impact the economic performance is held
equally by two or more variable interest holders who are required to provide their consent prior to the execution of
their decisions. Most of the VIEs with which we are involved have relatively few variable interests and are primarily
related to our equity investment, significant service contracts and other subordinated financial support.

Share-based compensation

We account for share-based payments, including grants of employee stock options, restricted stock-based awards and
performance cash units, in accordance with ASC 718 - Compensation-Stock Compensation, which requires that all
share-based payments (to the extent that they are compensatory) be recognized as an expense in our consolidated
statements of operations based on their fair values on the award date and the estimated number of shares we ultimately
expect to vest. We recognize share-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the service period of the
award, which is no greater than 5 years. See Note 18 to our consolidated financial statements for our discussion on
share-based compensation and incentive plans.

Commitments and Contingencies
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We record liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other
sources when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably
estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.
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Additional Balance Sheet Information

The components of “other current assets” on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are
presented below:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Inventory $8 $13
Restricted cash 17 1
Prepaid expenses 58 72
Value-added tax receivable 27 24
Assets held-for-sale 10 —
Other miscellaneous assets 27 86
Total other current assets $147 $196

The components of “other current liabilities” on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are
presented below:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Reserve for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts (a) $159 $109
Retainage payable 88 102
Income taxes payable 61 60
Deferred tax liabilities 46 31
Value-added tax payable 31 29
Insurance payable 19 26
Dividend payable 12 12
Other miscellaneous liabilities 72 40
Total other current liabilities $488 $409

(a)See Note 2 for further discussion on our reserve for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts.
Note 2. Business Segment Information

We provide a wide range of services and the management of our business is heavily focused on major projects within
each of our reportable segments. At any given time, a relatively few number of projects and joint ventures represent a
substantial part of our operations. Our reportable segments follow the same accounting policies as those described in

Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.

Business Reorganization

On December 11, 2014, KBR announced our reorganization into three new business segments to focus on core
strengths in technology and consulting, engineering and construction, and government services. We also announced
our intent to exit businesses that are no longer a part of our future strategic focus and have organized those businesses
into our Non-strategic Business segment. Each new business segment reflects a reportable segment led by a separate
business segment President who reports directly to our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). Our new business
segments are described below.

Technology & Consulting ("T&C"). Our T&C business segment combines proprietary KBR technologies,

knowledge-based services and our three specialist consulting brands, Granherne, Energo and GV A under a single
customer-facing global business. This segment provides licensed technologies and consulting services to the oil and
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gas value chain, from wellhead to crude refining and through to specialty chemicals production. In addition to sharing
many of the same customers, these brands share the approach of early and continuous customer involvement to deliver
an optimal solution to meet the customer’s objectives through early planning and scope definition, advanced
technologies, and project lifecycle support.

Engineering & Construction ("E&C"). Our E&C business segment leverages our operational and technical excellence
as a global provider of engineering, procurement, construction ("EPC"), commissioning and maintenance services for
oil and gas,
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refining, petrochemicals, and chemicals customers. E&C is managed on a geographic basis in order to facilitate close
proximity to our customers and our people, while utilizing a consistent global execution strategy.

Government Services ("GS"). Our GS business segment focuses on long-term service contracts with annuity streams
particularly for the United Kingdom, Australian and United States governments.

Non-strategic Business. On December 11, 2014, we also announced that we would exit businesses that are no longer a
part of our future strategic focus. Our Non-strategic Business segment represents these operations or activities which
we intend to either sell to third parties or exit upon completion of existing contracts.

Other. Our Other business segment includes our corporate expenses and general and administrative expenses not
allocated to the business segments above, and any future activities that do not individually meet the criteria for
segment presentation.

Reportable segment performance is evaluated by our CODM using reportable segment gross profit (loss) which is
defined as business segment revenues less the cost of revenues, and includes business segment overhead directly
attributable to the segment. We have revised our business segment reporting to reflect our current management
approach and recast prior periods to conform to the current business segment presentation.

The following table presents revenues, gross profit, equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates, capital
expenditures, and depreciation and amortization by reporting segment. See Note 8 to our consolidated financial

statements for more information on goodwill and intangible assets.
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Operations by Reportable Segment

Dollars in millions
Revenues:

Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Gross profit (loss):
Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates:
Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Impairment of goodwill (Note 8):
Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Asset impairment and restructuring charges (Note 9):

Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Segment operating income (loss):
Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Table of Contents

Years ended December 31,

2014

$353
4,584
638
5,575
791
$6,366

$53
141
(32
162
(227
$(65

$—
90
73

163
$163

$—
(293

(293
(153
$(446

$(2
(24

€
(149
(180
(34
$(214

$49
(114
25

(312
(352

[

— O N N N N N

2013

$330
4,956
931
6,217
997
$7,214

$69
263
90
422
5
$417

$—
76
61

2012

$296
5,616
1,105

7,017
753
$7,770

$80
450
83

613
(95
$518

$(2

$80
499
146
(155
570

119



Edgar Filing: ORION ENERGY SYSTEMS, INC. - Form 10-K/A

Non-strategic Business (442 ) 4 ) (271 )
Total $(794 ) $308 $299
62
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Years ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012
Capital expenditures:

Technology & Consulting $— $— $1
Engineering & Construction 19 10

Government Services — 1 1
Other 34 67 65
Subtotal 53 78 75
Non-strategic Business — — —
Total $53 $78 $75
Depreciation and amortization:

Technology & Consulting $2 $2 $2
Engineering & Construction 23 23 23
Government Services 8 9 9
Other 33 27 22
Subtotal 66 61 56
Non-strategic Business 6 7 9
Total $72 $68 $65

Changes in Estimates

There are many factors, including, but not limited to, the availability and costs of resources, including labor, materials
and equipment; productivity and weather, that can affect the accuracy of our cost estimates and ultimately our future
profitability. In the past, we have realized both lower and higher than expected margins and have incurred losses as a
result of unforeseen changes in our project costs. We recognize revisions of revenues and costs in the period in which
the revisions are known. This may result in the recognition of costs before the recognition of related revenue recovery,
if any. However, historically, our estimates have been reasonably dependable regarding the recognition of revenues
and profit on percentage of completion contracts.

Significant changes in estimates periodically result in the recognition of losses on a particular contract. We generally
believe that the recognition of a contract as a loss contract is a significant change in estimate. Activity in our reserve
for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts was as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012

Balance at January 1, $109 $56 $22

Changes in estimates on loss projects 177 106 53

Change due to progress on loss projects (127 ) (53 ) (19 )
Balance at December 31, $159 $109 $56

During 2014 and 2013, our seven Canadian pipe fabrication and module assembly projects, included in our E&C
business segment, recognized revisions in our estimate of costs and an impact to gross loss or profit of $72 million and
$132 million, respectively. All seven of these projects were in loss positions as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.
Included in the reserve for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts is $53 million and $97 million at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively, related to these projects. We are in the process of negotiating closure on four of these
projects and the remaining three projects should be completed during 2015. Our estimates of revenues and costs at
completion on these projects have been, and may continue to be, impacted by our performance, the performance of
our subcontractors, the Canadian labor market, the nature, complexity and ultimate quantities of modules and types of
individual components in the modules, our contractual arrangements and our ability to accumulate information and
negotiate final contract settlements with our customers. Our estimated losses as of December 31, 2014 on these
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projects represent our best estimate based on current information. Actual results could differ from the estimates we
have used to account for these projects as of December 31, 2014.
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During 2014, we recognized revisions in our estimate of costs to complete three projects in our power business
included in our Non-strategic Business segment. Such revisions resulted in a decrease in gross profit of $173 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014 and resulted in two of these projects becoming loss projects. The reserve for

estimated losses on uncompleted contracts at December 31, 2014 includes $80 million related to these two power

projects. Our estimate of revenues and costs at completion for these power projects have been, and may continue to
be, impacted by our performance, the performance of our subcontractors, and the U.S. labor market. Our estimated
profit and losses as of December 31, 2014 on these power projects represent our best estimate based on current

information. Actual results could differ from the estimates we have used to account for these power projects as of

December 31, 2014.

Balance Sheet Information by Reportable Segment

Within KBR, not all assets are associated with specific business segments. Those assets specific to business segments

include receivables, inventories, certain identified property, plant and equipment, equity in and advances to related
companies and goodwill. The remaining assets, such as cash and the remaining property, plant and equipment, are

considered to be shared among the business segments and are therefore reported in "Other."

Dollars in millions

Total assets:

Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Goodwill (Note 8):
Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

Equity in and advances to related companies (Note 10):

Technology & Consulting
Engineering & Construction
Government Services

Other

Subtotal

Non-strategic Business
Total

64

December 31,
2014

$173
2,020
532
1,304
4,029
170
$4,199

$31

233
60

324
$324
119
31
150

$151

2013

$224
2,308
693
1,838
5,063
375
$5,438

$31
528
60
619
153
$772

99
53
152

$156
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Revenues by country are determined based on the location of services provided. Long-lived assets by country are

determined based on the location of tangible assets.

Years ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012
Revenues:
United States $2,324 $2,470 $2,118
Australia 1,380 1,768 1,767
Africa 251 593 1,610
Middle East 707 913 1,013
Europe 624 575 582
Canada 752 687 431
Other countries 328 208 249
Total $6,366 $7,214 $7,770
December 31,
Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Property, plant & equipment, net:
United States $115 $272
United Kingdom 68 83
Other countries 64 60
Total $247 $415

Note 3. Cash and Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Cash and equivalents include cash balances held by our wholly-owned subsidiaries as well as cash held by joint
ventures that we consolidate. Joint venture cash balances are limited to joint venture activities and are not available for
other projects, general cash needs or distribution to us without approval of the board of directors of the respective joint
ventures. We expect to use joint venture cash for project costs and distributions of earnings related to joint venture
operations. However, some of the earnings distributions may be paid to other KBR entities where the cash can be used
for general corporate needs.
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The components of our cash and equivalents balance are as follows:
December 31, 2014
International ~ Domestic

Dollars in millions Total
(@) (b)

Operating cash and equivalents $209 $121 $330

Time deposits 481 79 560

Cash and equivalents held in joint ventures 71 9 80

Total $761 $209 $970

December 31, 2013
International Domestic

Dollars in millions Total
(a) (b)

Operating cash and equivalents $197 $215 $412

Time deposits 478 140 618

Cash and equivalents held in joint ventures 67 9 76

Total $742 $364 $1,106

(a)Includes deposits held in non-U.S. operating accounts
(b)Includes U.S. dollar and foreign currency deposits held in operating accounts that constitute onshore cash for tax
purposes but may reside either in the U.S. or in a foreign country

Our international cash balances are primarily held in the United Kingdom ("U.K.") and Australia. In December 2014,
we implemented a foreign cash repatriation strategy for which we have provided cumulative income taxes on certain
foreign earnings which provides us, if necessary, the ability to repatriate approximately an additional $370 million of
international cash without recognizing additional tax expense. The remaining international cash balances associated
with past foreign earnings which we currently intend to permanently reinvest in our foreign entities are not available
for domestic use. See Note 13 for further discussion on our income taxes.

Note 4. Accounts Receivable

The components of our accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts balance are as follows:
December 31, 2014

Dollars in millions Retainage Trade & Total
Other

Technology & Consulting $— $51 $51
Engineering & Construction 45 538 $583
Government Services 5 84 $89
Other — 3 $3
Subtotal 50 676 $726
Non-strategic Business 48 73 $121
Total $98 $749 $847

December 31, 2013

Dollars in millions Retainage Trade & Total
Other

Technology & Consulting $— $63 $63

Engineering & Construction 52 725 $777

Government Services 3 85 $88

Other — 1 $1
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Subtotal 55 874 $929
Non-strategic Business 45 82 $127
Total $100 $956 $1,056
66
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In addition, noncurrent retainage receivable included in "other assets" on our consolidated balance sheets was $14
million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, primarily in our Non-strategic Business segment.

Note 5. Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings on Uncompleted Contracts and Billings in Excess of Costs
and Estimated Earnings on Uncompleted Contracts

Our CIE balances by business segment are as follows:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Technology & Consulting $38 $37
Engineering & Construction 357 230
Government Services 73 123
Subtotal 468 390
Non-strategic Business 22 9
Total $490 $399

Our BIE balances by business segment are as follows:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Technology & Consulting $56 $53
Engineering & Construction 212 139
Government Services 93 88
Subtotal 361 280
Non-strategic Business 170 121
Total $531 $401

Unapproved change orders and claims

The amounts of unapproved change orders and claims included in determining the profit or loss on contracts are as
follows:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Amounts included in project estimates-at-completion at January 1, $115 $167
Changes in estimates-at-completion 87 109
Approved (171 ) (161 )
Amounts included in project estimates-at-completion at December 31, $31 $115
Amounts recorded in revenues on a percentage-of-completion basis at December 31,  $24 $93

In 2014, approved change orders reflect approvals on an air quality project in the U.S. and an EPC contract for a gas
fired electric power generation project in the U.S. and a construction project in our E&C business segment for which
the client routinely issues scope changes which are subsequently followed with a change order.

Included in our 2013 estimated project revenues are increases related to the construction project in our E&C business
segment mentioned above.

The table above excludes unapproved change orders and claims related to our unconsolidated affiliates. Our
proportionate share of unapproved change orders and claims on a percentage-of-complete basis was $78 million as of

December 31, 2014 and $58 million as of December 31, 2013 on a project in our E&C business segment.
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Liquidated damages

Some of our engineering and construction contracts have schedule dates and performance obligations that if not met
could subject us to penalties for liquidated damages. These generally relate to specified activities that must be
completed by a set contractual date or by achievement of a specified level of output or throughput. Each contract
defines the conditions under which a customer may make a claim for liquidated damages. However, in some
instances, liquidated damages are not asserted by the customer, but the potential to do so is used in negotiating or
settling claims and closing out the contract.

It is possible that liquidated damages related to several projects totaling $12 million at December 31, 2014 and $10
million at December 31, 2013 could be incurred if the projects are completed as currently forecasted. However, based
upon our evaluation of our performance we have concluded these liquidated damages are not probable, therefore they
have not been recognized.

Advances

We may receive customer advances in the normal course of business, most of which are applied to invoices usually
within one to three months. In addition, we may hold advances from customers to assist us in financing project
activities, including subcontractor costs. Included in BIE on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014
and 2013, were $0 and $50 million, respectively, of finance-related advances, related to our E&C business segment.

Note 6. Claims and Accounts Receivable

The components of our claims and accounts receivable account balance are as follows:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Engineering & Construction $425 $401
Government Services 145 227

Total $570 $628

Our E&C business segment's claims and accounts receivable includes $401 million related to our EPC 1 arbitration.
We expect the signed final judgment of $465 million from the original confirmation of the 2009 arbitration award to
be recovered from Petréleos Mexicanos ("PEMEX") Exploration and Production ("PEP") which includes
approximately $106 million as recovery for our payment in 2013 of performance bonds and interest. The judgment
also requires that each party pay value added tax on the amounts each has been ordered to pay. See Note 15 to our
consolidated financial statements under PEMEX and PEP Arbitration for further discussion. The remaining balance is
related to a construction project for which we are actively pursuing the recovery of these receivables.

Our GS business segment's claims and accounts receivable reflects claims for costs incurred under various U.S.
government contracts. The decrease from 2013 to 2014 is primarily due to the unexpected conclusion of matters
related to dining facilities and questioned costs on the Restore Iraqi Oil ("RIO") contract. See "Other Matters" in Note
14 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion on our U.S. government claims.

Note 7. Property, Plant and Equipment

The components of our property, plant and equipment balance are as follows:
Estimated December 31,
Useful

Dollars in millions ) . 2014 2013
Lives in Years
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Land N/A $13 $19
Buildings and property improvements 5-44 198 213
Equipment and other 3-25 421 580

Total 632 812

Less accumulated depreciation (385 ) (397 )
Net property, plant and equipment $247 $415

See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements for discussion on asset impairment.
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Depreciation expense was $61 million, $54 million, and $50 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

In November 2012, the joint venture in which we held a 50% interest sold the office building in which we lease office
space for our corporate headquarters and offices in Houston, Texas, for $175 million. Since we continue to lease the
office building from the new owner under essentially the same lease terms, the $44 million pre-tax gain on the sale
was deferred and is being amortized using the straight-line method over the remaining term of the lease, which expires
in 2030. We recognized $3 million of amortization of deferred gain on our consolidated statements of operations at
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, and less than $1 million at December 31, 2012. The current
portion of the deferred gain of $3 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, is recorded in "other current
liabilities" on our consolidated balance sheets and the noncurrent deferred gain of $37 million and $39 million at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, is recorded in "other liabilities" on our consolidated balance sheets.

In November 2012, we closed on the sale of our former campus for approximately $42 million in cash. The sale
resulted in a $27 million pre-tax gain on disposal of assets in "gain on disposition of assets" in our consolidated
statements of operations.

Note 8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The table below summarizes changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment.
Technology Engineering .
Dollars in millions & & GOVf.:rnment Other  Subtotal Non.-strateglc Total
. . Services Business
Consulting Construction

Balance as of January 1, 2013:

Gross goodwill $31 $ 534 $61 $— $626  $ 331 $957
Accumulated impairment losses — — — — — (178 )y (178 )
Net goodwill as of January 1, 2013  $31 $ 534 $61 $— $626  $ 153 $779
Goodwill written off related to sale

of $— $@3 ) $— $— $3 ) $ — $3 )
reporting unit

Net foreign exchange difference $— $@3 ) $1 ) $— $4 ) $ — $4 )
Balances as of December 31, 2013:

Gross goodwill $31 $ 528 $60 $— $619  §$ 331 $950
Accumulated impairment losses — — — — — (178 )y (178 )
12\1061t 3goodwﬂl as of December 31, $31 $ 528 $60 $— $619 $ 153 $772
Impairment loss $— $ (293 ) $— $— $(293 ) $ (153 ) $(446 )
Net foreign exchange difference ~ $— $ (2 ) $— $— $2 ) $ — $2 )
Balance as of December 31, 2014:

Gross goodwill $31 $ 526 $60 $— $617  $ 331 $948
Accumulated impairment losses — (293 ) — — (293 ) (331 ) (624 )
Net goodwill as of December 31, $31 $233 $60 $— $324 $ $324

2014
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Goodwill Impairment

In connection with preparing for our reorganization on December 11, 2014, we decided we would no longer bid on
certain types of work and we would also exit certain non-strategic businesses resulting in a significant reduction of our
forecasts of future cash flows for three of our previous reporting units. As a result, we recorded a noncash goodwill
impairment charge of $446 million in "impairment of goodwill" on our consolidated statements of operations.

We perform our annual goodwill impairment test as of October 1 of each year. The first step in performing a goodwill
impairment test is to identify potential impairment by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to its

carrying value.
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At the annual testing date of October 1, 2014 (prior to our reorganization), the result of the first step of our goodwill
impairment test indicated the carrying values of three of our previous reporting units exceeded their fair values. As a
result, we performed the second step of the goodwill impairment test in order to measure the amount of the potential
impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair value of the
reporting unit's goodwill to the carrying value of that goodwill. Step two requires significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3 fair value measurements) in the calculation. We determine the implied fair value of goodwill in the same
manner as we use in determining the amount of goodwill to be recognized in a business combination. Applying this
methodology, we assigned the fair value of the respective reporting unit estimated in step one to all the assets and
liabilities of the respective reporting unit. The implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is the excess of the
fair value of the reporting unit over the amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities. The result of our step two test
indicated that the carrying value of each of the three reporting unit's goodwill exceeded the implied fair value of their
goodwill.

In step two, the fair values of the reporting units were determined using a combination of two methods, one utilizing
market earnings multiples (the market approach) and the other derived from discounted cash flow models with
estimated cash flows based on internal forecasts of revenues and expenses over a specified period plus a terminal
value (the income approach). Under the market approach, we estimate fair value by applying earnings and revenue
market multiples to a reporting unit’s operating performance for the trailing twelve-month period. The income
approach estimates fair value by discounting each reporting unit’s estimated future cash flows using a
weighted-average cost of capital that reflects current market conditions and the risk profile of the reporting unit. To
arrive at our future cash flows, we use estimates of economic and market assumptions, including growth rates in
revenues, costs, estimates of future expected changes in operating margins, tax rates and cash expenditures. Other
significant estimates and assumptions include terminal value growth rates, future estimates of capital expenditures and
changes in future working capital requirements.

On December 31, 2014, we reorganized our reporting units in conjunction with our business segment reorganization.
As aresult, we performed an additional impairment test immediately before and after this change in reporting units,
utilizing the same methodology as our October 1st test and no indication of impairment was identified.

In 2012 in connection with our goodwill impairment review, we recognized a noncash goodwill impairment charge of
$178 million related to one of our previous reporting units. The charge was primarily the result of our determination
that both the actual and expected income and cash flows for the reporting unit were substantially lower than previous
forecasts due to losses from ongoing projects acquired as part of the acquisition of Roberts & Schaefer Company
which is now included in our Non-strategic Business segment.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are comprised of customer relationships, trade names, licensing agreements and other. The cost and

accumulated amortization of our intangible assets were as follows:
December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013
Intangibles not subject to amortization $11 $11
Intangibles subject to amortization 126 186

Total intangibles 137 197
Accumulated amortization of intangibles (96 ) (112 )
Net intangibles $41 $85

Intangibles that are not subject to amortization are reviewed annually for impairment or more often if events or
circumstances change that would create a triggering event. Intangibles subject to amortization are amortized over their
estimated useful lives of up to 25 years. Intangibles subject to amortization are impaired if the carrying value of the
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intangible is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. In conjunction with our annual goodwill impairment analysis,
we performed an undiscounted cash flow test which indicated impairment of our trade names and customer
relationship intangibles related to the acquisition of the Roberts & Schaefer Company discussed above. See Note 9 to
our consolidated financial statements for discussion on impairment of intangible assets.
Our intangibles amortization expense is presented below:

Years ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2014 2013 2012
Intangibles amortization expense $11 $14 $15
70
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Our expected intangibles amortization expense for the next five years is presented below:
Expected future

Dollars in millions intangibles
amortization expense

2015 $4

2016 $3

2017 $3

2018 $3

2019 $3

Beyond 2019 $14

Note 9. Asset Impairment and Restructuring

Information related to asset impairment and restructuring charges resulting from our December 11, 2014 strategic
reorganization is presented below:

Technology Engineering Government Non-strategic

& & . Other Subtotal . Total
: . Services Business
Consulting Construction
Dollars in millions
Asset impairment
Enterprise fesource 5— 5 — 5— $135  $135  $— $135
planning
Intangible assets — — — — — 31 31
Property, plant & o | o 4 5 o 5
equipment
Subtotal $— $1 $— $139 $140 $31 $171
Restructuring charges
Severance $2 $ 14 $3 $10 $29 $— $29
Lease termination — 9 2 — 11 3 14
Subtotal 2 23 5 10 40 3 43
Total $2 $24 $5 $149
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